*

National Library of Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Services des thèses canadiennes

• • •

--

CANADIAN THESES

THÈSES CANADIENNES

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accome / this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE



NL 339 (r 86/01)

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui for déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

National Library of Canada	Bibliothèque nationale du Canada		0-315-24906-4	
Canadian Theses Division	Division des thèses (canadiennes		
Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4	.			
		· · ·		
PERMISSION TO MIC	ROFILM - AUT	DRISATION DE MIC	ROFILMER	
Please print or type — Écrire en lettres	s moulées ou dactylogra	phier		
Full Name of Author - Nom complet de	l'auteur			
Jay Malcolm 1.	3abin			
Date of Birth — Date de naissance		Country of Birth — Lieu c	le naissance	
October 10/1958	54. j.			
Permanent Address – Résidence fixe $\#20!$ 1072 5 – $\#3$ A	lvei	P.	· · ·	
Edmonton, alberta		نه به		
	.*	• •		
Title of Thesis — Titre de la thèse		lation To	Tonday	
Wan Winter Ox		ellon th	remperate	
Zone Lake	5			
			•	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•	/ /		
University — Université				
Univergity of A Degree for which thesis was presented -	Alberta	•		
		thèse fut présentée		
<u>Master f. Juni</u> rear this degree conferred — Année d'obt			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1964	lention de ce grade	Name of Supervisor - Nor		
		Dr. E.E. Pr.	ерач	
Permission is boroby granted to the NAT		-	,	
Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.		L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ- QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.		
The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.		L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.		
•		autement reproduits sar	is i autorisation ecrite de l'auteur.	
Date July 2 3/19 64	£1		Mi	
			-L	

.

NL-91 (4/77)

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

WINTER OXYGEN DEPLETION IN TEMPERATE ZONE LAKES

by JAY BABIN

 $\left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \end{array} \right)$

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

DEPARTMENT OF ZOOLOGY

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

FALL 1984

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR JAY BABIN

TITLE OF THESIS WINTER OXYGE. DEPLETION IN TEMPERATE ZONE LAKES

DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED MASTER OF SCIENCE YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED FALL 1984

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(SIGNED) Aaf Aat

10725-83

PERMANENT ADDRESS

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled WINTER OXYGEN DEPLETION IN TEMPERATE ZONE LAKES submitted by JAY BABIN in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE.

£.

Date.

Ċc

Abstract

Winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR) (g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$) were determined for 13 lakes in central Alberta during the winter of 1982-83. Although oxygen decreased in all lakes for the first three and a half months after freeze-up, the decreases were nonlinear. The highest WODR were observed just after freeze-up. The nonlinear WODR were significantly correlated with estimates of lake productivity (total phosphorus (TP)), but were not significantly correlated with morphometry (eg. mean depth, P > 0.20).

When the WODR from the Alberta lakes were treated as linear, to enable a comparison with other studies dealing with WODR, a correlation was found between WODR and both morphometry and estimates of summer productivity. This relationship was significantly different from what previous investigators observed. When data from three other sets of temperate zone lakes were combined with data from this study, WODR were best predicted from a combination of mean depth $(\bar{z} \text{ in m})$ and mean summer TP (TPsu in mg·m⁻²) in the euphotic zone:

WODR = -0.101 + 0.00247 TPsu + $0.013\overline{4}$, \overline{z} ^s r = 0.90The above equation permits the prediction of WODR for a greater range of lake types than previous models.

Models to predict WODR in lakes are based on oxygen profiles obtained from the deepest site in the lake. When the average dissolved oxygen concentration in Wizard Lake was calculated from oxygen profiles obtained from six sites,

iv

the oxygen concentration was 47% higher than when the average concentration was calculated based on the main sampling site. Thus, it appears that one-site sampling may not yield an accurate estimate of the winter oxygen content of lakes.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my thanks to Dr. E.E. Prepas for her support, insight, and encouragement with this thesis. I also thank G. Linsey for providing unpublished data and Dr. P. Dillon for permission to use his data on some of the Ontario lakes.

I would like to thank everybody who braved the elements and hauled the water bottle: S. Beare, J. Bierhuizen, C. Campbell, R. Casey, M. Drury, N. Kawaguchi, J. McNeilly, E. Riley, and especially D. Goulet and J. Newcomb. N. Kawaguchi, N. Munn, J. Newcomb, and J. Vickery also assisted in other ways in the field and laboratory. J. Newcomb and J. Vickery helped with the drafting of the figures. A special thanks to Jill and Gertie, both of whom kept me supplied with the necessary equipment and supplies, knew where and how to get things done, what forms to fill out, and where anything and everything was stored.

My thesis committee, P. Gorham, T. Reynoldson, and L. Wang offered helpful advice for this study. J. Ciborowski, P. Gorham, N. Munn, and R. Nursall reviewed parts of this thesis.

Finally, I give thanks to "Arnold" for getting me to and from the sampling sites no matter how cold it was.

Financial support for this work was provided by the Research Management Division of Alberta Environment, Fisheries Division of Alberta Energy and Natural Resources, and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of

vi

Canada in the form of a grant, grant, and operating grant, respectively, to E.E. Prepas.

Table of Contents

	Table of Contents
Chapt	er Page
Ĩ	. General Introduction1
	A. Oxygen Sinks Under Ice cover
	B. Sites for Oxygen Depletion
	C. Factors Controlling Oxygen Depletion in Lakes7
. •	D. Production of Oxygen Under Ice-Cover
	E. Existing Models to Predict Winter Oxygen Depletion Rates9
	F. References
II.	Modelling Winter Oxygen Depletion Rates in Temperate Zone Lakes17
	A. Introduction17
	B. The Study Lakes19
	C. Materials and Methods20
	D. Results
•	Fall Turnover24
	Lake Cover and Chlorophyll a
	Dissolved Oxygen27
	One-Site-Sampling
	E. Discussion
	F. References
III.	General Discussion and Conclusions
	A. References64
IV.	Appendix A: Chemical data for the study lakes66
ĪV.	Appendix B: Morphometric data for the study lakes .90

List of Tables

Chapter II

Table 1. Percent oxygen saturation in 13 Albertan lakes41 during fall and early winter, 1982.

Table 2: Winter oxygen depletion rates (g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$) during

the first 112 days past freeze-up, and correlation coefficients, r, for the mass of oxygen (on linear and transformed, x' $\mathcal{L}=$ X° '', data), vs days past freeze-up,

for the Albertan lakes Table 3: Correlation coefficients for winter oxygen

depletion rates (g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$), both transformed (X' = $\sum X^{\circ}$ (5) and linear, vs six parameters: mean depth (z), maximum depth (Zmax), loss on ignition (LOI), spring and summer total phosphorus (TPsp and TPsu), and summer

chlorophyll a (Chl a), in 13 Albertan lakes43 Table 4: Deviations of predicted winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR) from observed WODR for 11 Albertan lakes ..44

Table 5: Winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR)

(g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$), mean depth (\overline{z}), total phosphorus (TP), and chlorophyll a (Chl a) (mg·m⁻²) from four sets of

temperate zone lakes in Canada46 Table 6: Regression analyses of winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR)(g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$) vs four parameters; mean depth (\bar{z}) , spring and summer total phosphorus (TPsp and TPsu) (mg·m⁻²) and summer chlorophyll a (Chl a) (mg·m⁻²) for the lakes in Table 5

Table 7: Dissolved oxygen (mg·L⁻') profiles at six sampling

ix

.sites on Wizard Lake, March 7, 198351 Appendix A.

Table 1: Morphometric characteristics of the study lakes ...91

х

List of Figures

Chapter 2

South Basin, during the fall and winter of 1982-83 55 Chapter V

xi

I. General Introduction

"A skillful limnologist can probably learn more about the nature of a lake from a series of oxygen determinations than from any other kind of chemical data" (Hutchinson, 1957, p575)

Dissolved oxygen (DO) in lakes is used by plants, animals, and bacteria for respiration. If the consumption of oxygen in a lake exceeds the input, a net oxygen deficit occurs. Most oxygen depletion studies concentrate on stratified lakes during the summer. Thus most of the information regarding oxygen depletion in lakes is based on summer oxygen data. To obtain accurate estimates of factors influencing oxygen depletion it is often necessary to bring the "lake" into the laboratory. Thus a lot of the information available on the mechanisms involved in oxygen depletion is from laboratory experiments using sediment cores and water from the lake. It is often difficult to extrapol __ firectly from observations of laboratory experiments to the situation in the field 'Riley and Prepas 1984). How wer, the general trends from the laboratory may be used to interpret the results from the field.

In a stratified lake during the summer, DO is consumed throughout the water column. In the epilimnion, water regularly comes in contact with the air, thus DO levels are usually close to 100% saturation. Water in the hypolimnion does not regularly come into contact with the atmosphere. Consequently, oxygen respired in the hypolimnion is often

not replenished and a deficit may develop (Thienemann 1928).

Oxygen depletion in lakes is expressed in one of two ways: (1) volumetrically as mass of oxygen used per volume of water per day (g·m¹·d⁻¹) or (2) areally as mass of oxygen used per unit surface area per day (g·m⁻²·d⁻¹). Oxygen depletion rates were first used to define lake trophic status (Strom 1931; Hutchinson 1938). Recently Charlton (1980) and Cornett (1981) have shown that oxygen depletion is related to morphometry. Thus the earlier attempts by Strom (1931) and Hutchinson (1938) to classify lake trophic status based on the areal hypolimnetic oxygen deficit (AHOD) were incorrect. Oxygen depletion in lakes in winter is expressed areally since the primary site of oxygen consumption is at the sediment-water interface (Hayes and MacAuley 1959; Hargrave 1971) which is a function of lake area.

An ice-covered lake in the winter is similar to the hypolimnion of a stratified lake. Both are isolated from the atmosphere and can develop oxygen deficits (Krumholtz and Cole 1959; Linsey 1981). With fall freeze-over, wind induced circulation ceases in a lake and atmospheric inputs of oxygen stop. Under ice-cover, DO is added.during photosynthesis (Rhode 1955; Wright 1964; Jackson 1979) and by inflowing streams (Greenbank 1945; Pennak 1968. Concurrently, DO is lost through white ice formation, respiration and the oxidation of chemical compounds. When DO levels decline during winter, fish populations within the

lake are subject to winterkill (Greenbank 1945; Scidmore 1957; Halsey 1968; Pennak 1968; Schneberger 1970; Casselman and Harvey 1975). Consequently, biologists are interested in predicting winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR) to determine which lakes may winterkill.

A. Oxygen Sinks Under Ice-cover

There are three major sinks for oxygen in lakes under ice-cover: (1) slushing, (2) chemical oxidation of reduced compounds, (3) biological consumption. These sinks are discussed in detail below.

When black ice cracks, water seeps up over the ice flooding the snow and white ice forms (Adams 1976), this is termed slushing. As a result of this flooding, DO in the water which forms the white ice is removed from the lake. The total amount of oxygen removed from the lake during slushing events is proportional to the depth of white ice formed and the DO concentration in the flooding water.

Chemical oxidation occurs when reduced compounds are oxidized in the water column, e.g., $2Fe_2O_2 + O_2 \rightarrow 2Fe_2O_3$. Reduced compounds (e.g., manganese, iron and sulfur) are released into the water overlying the sediments when DO levels are low (Mortimer 1971). These reduced compounds are transported via currents and diffusion towards the lake surface and, if oxygen is encountered, they are oxidized. Brewer et al. (1977) found that the oxygen comsumption of

sediment cores was reduced by 91 to 99% by poisoning the sediments; the remaining 1 to 9% of the oxygen consumption was presumably due to chemical oxidation. Hargrave (1972) found that chemical oxidation accounted for only 20% of the oxygen consumption of sediment cores in the laboratory. Thus, as the amount of oxidizeable material increases, the consumption of oxygen by chemical oxidation increases. However, chemical oxygen depletion, in general, is not the main sink for oxygen in lakes.

The major sink for DO is respiration by organisms (Hargrave 1969) including fish, invertebrates and microbes (eg. fungi and bacteria). Respiration by fish accounts for a relatively small amount of the oxygen consumed in a lake. In Sharpe Bay (Jack Lake, Ontario), Linsey (1981) calculated that the DO respired by fish (4.4 \times 10⁻⁵ mg·L⁻¹·d⁻¹), was less than 0.2% of the total oxygen consumed. Benthic invertebrates also account for a relatively minor portion of total òxygen consumption in lakes. However, benthic invertebrates can greatly influence the oxygen uptake by bacteria (Edwards and Rolly 1965; Graneli 1979). By burrowing in the sediments and increasing the sediment surface area, benthic invertebrates increase oxygen consumption by bacteria. Benthic invertebrates also bring organic material and reduced substances to the sediment surface where they may be oxidized. Bacteria are the main consumers of DO in lakes (Edberg and Hofsten 1973; Brewer et al. 1977). A correlation was noted between bacteria

.

abundance and oxygen depletion (Zobell and Stodler 1940; Hayes and MacAuley 1959; Brewer et al. 1977). Fungi play a major role in oxygen consumption as they are responsible for the breakdown of large particles of organic matter (eg. dead macrophytes) into smaller particles suitable for bacterial consumption. Bacteria use oxygen for the decomposition of organic matter. As more organic material is made available for decomposition, the number of bacteria increases and the oxygen demand by the bacteria increases correspondingly (Zobell and Stodler 1940; Hayes and MacAuley 1959; Hayes and Anthony 1959). The site of highest bacterial numbers in lakes is at the sediment-water interface (Hayes and Anthony 1959), thus the role of sediments is an important factor in oxygen depletion in lakes and will be discussed in the following section.~

B. Sites for Oxygen Depletion

When considering oxygen depletion, a lake may be divided into two distinct compartments: (1)sediment-water interface and (2) open water. Oxygen depletion in these two compartments is termed sediment oxygen demand (SOD) and water oxygen demand (WOD), respectively. In deep lakes, organic material falling out of the trophogenic zone is oxidized to a greater extent in the open water than the same material would be in a shallow lake, since the material has a greater distance to fall in the deep lake, hence a longer

residence time (Charlton 1980; Cornett 1981). In laboratory experiments carried out on sediment cores and the overlying water, Edberg and Hofsten (1973) found WOD accounted for 12% of the oxygen consumption when the water overlying the sediment cores was rich in oxidizable substrates; however, when water overlying the cores was from the outflow of a papermill, 40% of the total oxygen consumption was caused by WOD. As the concentration of oxidizable material in the water column increases, the relative contribution of WOD to the total oxygen consumption in the lake increases.

In lakes, the main site for oxygen depletion is at the sediment-water interface. Productivity and the mass of oxidizable material are relatively low in the water column during winter, therefore the contribution of WOD to the total oxygen consumption in the lake is small. In two sub-arctic lakes, Chenard (1980) found that SOD could account for between 50 and 100% of the total oxygen demand in the lakes during the winter. Hargrave (1971) found that oxygen consumption under ice-cover in Lake Esrom, Denmark, could be attributed almost entirely to oxygen uptake by the sediments. The nature of the sediments influences the rate of oxygen depletion and will be discussed in the following section.

C. Factors Controlling Oxygen Depletion in Lakes

Oxygen depletion rates in lakes are governed by two factors: (1) the nature and amount of the substrates to be oxidized (2) the supply of oxygen to the sites of oxygen consumption. In temperate zone lakes, most of the production of organic material takes place during the open-water season (Schindler and Nighswander 1970). Material produced in the open-water season is partially oxidized as it falls to the sediments where it is stored. Production in lakes rapidly declines when lakes freeze over. Thus, most of the material that will be oxidized during the winter is accumulated in the sediments from production that occurred during the ice-free season. Oxygen demand may increase as a lake undergoes eutrophication because of increased production (Brewer et al. 1977). However, Hargrave (1975) and Graneli (1978) found little change in oxygen uptake rate of sediment cores when fresh organic material was added. No correlation was found between the organic content of sediments and oxygen depletion rate (Edberg and Hofsten 1973). However, the mature and quality of the organic material in the as not determined in these studies. This can be sedime. ce organic material can be composed of easily impo tar oxidiz bl : :erial such as simple carbohydrates or material which is the vely difficult to breakdown such as lignins or humic complete Margrave 1971).

In labor body experimence, oxygen depletion rates were higher at the beginning of the experiment than at the end

(Zobell and Stodler 1940). Zobell and Stodler (1940) attribute the reduction in the rate of oxygen consumption to a decrease in the availability of substrates suitable for oxidation.

Rate of oxygen depletion is governed in part by the supply of oxygen to the sediments. Since sediments are the primary site for oxygen consumption, water in contact with the sediments quickly goes anoxic. However, as there is circulation under ice-cover (Likens and Hasler 1962; Likens and Ragotzkie 1966) water is transported to the sediment-water interface, bringing DO to the sediments. Horizontal mixing is faster than vertical mixing in the open water. Vertical mixing in the open water is supplemented by the movement of water down the sides of the lake at the sediment surface. As water approaches the sediment-water interface, it warms and becomes denser than the colder surrounding water, and then slides down the sides of the lake displacing the bottom water upwards. This process results in a slow circulation of the lake water and brings oxygen to the sediments.

D. Production of Oxygen Under Ice-Cover

If no water enters the lake in winter, photosynthesis is the only source of oxygen gain in lakes. If snow cover on the lake is thin, enough light may enter the lake to permit a substantial amount of photosynthesis to take place. The

depth of snow needed to reduce light penetration to effectively halt photosynthesis would depend on the type and pattern of snow cover present on the lake and also the light regime of the lake (Adams and Roulet 1980). Barica et al. (1983) were unsuccessful in their attempt to increase photosynthesis under the ice by removing the snow cover. The presence of algae in the water column does not mean that there is oxygen production taking place in the water. Schindler and Nighswander (1970) found that the algal population under the ice in Clear Lake, Ontario, was relatively large but the algae were in a state of dormancy. Chlorophyll a (Chl a) levels in lakes, a measure of algal production, are relatively high just after freeze-up and decline throughout the winter (Greenbank 1945; Barica 1977; Jackson 1979). As a result, oxygen production caused by photosynthesis is negligible in most lakes throughout the the period of ice cover (Jackson 1979).

9

E. Existing Models to Predict Winter Oxygen Depletion Rates

Whole-lake WODR have been studied and modelled in two distinct lake types in the temperate zone lakes of North America. Deep oligotrophic lakes on the Precambrian shield have been studied by Welch et al. (1976) and the shallow eutrophic prairie pothole lakes have been studied by Barica and Mathias (1979). Both studies reported that WODR (g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$) could best be predicted by models that used morphometry (mean depth (\bar{z})) as the independent parameter. The relationship between \bar{z} and WODR in the two studies was quite different:

WODR = $0.08 + 0.012 \bar{z}$ (Welch et al. 1976)

WODR = 0.14 + 0.062 z (Barica and Mathias 1979) Mathias and Barica (1980) suggest that this difference is a function of productivity but they did not attempt to incorporate an estimate of lake productivity into a model. Schindler (1971) related winter oxygen depletion to the amount of allochthonous material received by the lakes in the Experimental Lakes Area (ELA). This relationship has never been confirmed in subsequent studies, probably because the vegetation cover in the lake basins in the other studies differs from lake to lake, whereas in the ELA the vegetation cover is similar between lakes. Hence the source, type, and amount of allochthonous material entering the lakes is different for lakes in other regions (Mathias and Barica 1980).

Jackson and Lasenby (1982) developed two models to predict oxygen profiles under ice-covered lakes. The two models are based on data collected for lakes on the Precambria: snield and lakes in limestone basins in Ontario. The more productive limestone basin lakes had higher oxygen depletion rates, indicating that oxygen depletion is related to productivity.

All of the individual studies on WODR have focused on groups of lakes with similar morphometries or

productivities. Thus, models based on these studies are only applicable to the lake type they are based on. To link together the previous studies, I gathered data on WODR in 13' Albertan lakes, and examined the effect of morphometry and estimates of productivity (spring and summer total phosphorus, summer Chl *a*, and loss on ignition of the sediments) on WODR in these lakes. Furthermore, data from the literature and this study were combined to produce a new model to predict WODR over a broader range of lake types than the two existing models.

F'. References

Ð

Adams, W.P. 1976. Diversity of lake cover and its implications. Musk-Ox 18: 86-98.

- Adams, W.P and N.T. Roulet. 1980. Illustration of the role of snow in the evolution of the winter cover of a lake. Arctic 33: 100-116.
- Barica, J. 1977. Effect of freeze-up on major ion and nutrient content of a prairie winterkill lake. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 34: 2210-2215.
- Barica, J. and J. A. Mathias. 1979. Oxygen depletion and winterkill risk in small prairie lakes under extended ice cover. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 36: 980-986.
- Barica, J., J. Gibson, and W. Howard. 1983. Feasibility of snow clearing to improve dissoloved oxygen conditions in a winterkill lake. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 40: 1526-1531.
- Brewer, W.S., A.R. Abernathy and M.J.B. Paynter. 1977. Oxygen consumption by freshwater sediments. Water Res. 11: 471-473.
- Casselman, J.M. and H.H. Harvey. 1975. Selective fish mortality resulting from low winter oxygen. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol. 19: 2418-2429

Charlton, M.N. 1980. Hypolimnion oxygen consumption in lakes. Discussion of productivity and morphometry effects. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37: 1531-1539.

Chenard, P.G. 1980. A comparison of whole-lake and sediment oxygen consumption in two sub-arctic lakes. M.Sc.

Thesis. McGill University, Montreal, Quebec. 133 p.

Cornett, J. 1981. Prediction and interpretation of rates of hypolimnetic oxygen depletion. Ph.D. Thesis. McGill University, Montreal, Quebec. 270 p. + appendices.

- Edberg, N. and B . Hofsten. 1973. Oxygen uptake of bottom sediments studied *in situ* and in the laboratory. Water Res. 7: 1285-1294.
- Edwards, R.W. and H.L.J. Rolley. 1965. Oxygen consumption of river muds. J. Ecol. 53: 1-19.
- Graneli, W. 1978. Sediment oxygen uptake in south Swedish Lakes. Oikos. 30: 7-16.
- Graneli, W. 1979. The influence of *Chironomus pulmosa* larvae on the oxygen uptake of sediments. Arch. Hydrobiol. 87: 385-403.
- Greenbank, J.T. 1945. Limnological conditions in ice-covered lakes, especially as related to winter-kill of fish. Ecol. Monogr. 15: 344-392.
- Halsey, T.G. 1968. Autumnal and over-winter limnology of three small eutrophic lakes with particular reference to experimental circulation and trout mortality. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 25: 81-99.
- Hargrave, B.T. 1969. Similarity of oxygen uptake by benthic communities. Limnol. Oceanogr. 14: 801-805.
- Hargrave, B.T. 1971. A comparison of sediment oxygen uptake, hypolimnetic oxygen depletion and primary production in Denmark. Verh. Internat. Verein Limnol. 18: 134-139. Hargrave, B.T. 1972. Aerobic decomposition of sediment and

detritus as a function of particle surface area and organic content. Limnol. Oceanogr. 17: 583-596.

Hargrave, B.T. 1975. The importance of total and mixed layer depth in the supply of organic materials to bottom communities. Symp. Biol. Hung. 15: 157-165.

Hayes, F.R. and M.A. MacAuley. 1959. Lake water and sediment. V. Öxygen consumed in water over sediment cores. Limnol. Oceanogr. 4: 291-298.

Hayes, F.R. and E.H. Anthony. 1959. Lake water and sediments. VI. The standing crop of bacteria in lake sediments and its place in the classification of lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 4: 299-315.

Hutchinson, G.E. 1938. On the relation between the oxygen deficit and the productivity of lakes. Int. Rev. Hydrobiol. 30: 336-355.

Hutchinson, G.E. 1957. A treatise on limnology. 1. Wiley, New York, NY. 1015 p.

Jackson, M.B. 1979. Winter oxygen loss in three southern Ontario lakes. M.Sc. Thesis, Trent University, Peterborough, Ontario. 55 p.

Jackson, M.B. and D.C. Lasenby. 1982. A method for

predicting winter oxygen profiles in ice-covered lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 39: 1267-1272.

Krumholz, L.A. and G.A. Cole. 1959. Studies on a Kentucky Knobs Lake. IV Some limnological conditions during an unusually cold winter. Limnol. Oceanogr. 4: 367-385. Likens, G.E. and A.D. Hasler, 1962. Movements of radiosodium within an ice-covered lake. Limnol. Oceanogr. 7: 48-56. Likens, G.E. and R.A. Ragotzkie. 1966. Rotary circulation of water in an ice covered lake. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol. 16: 126-133.

Linsey, G.A. 1981. Spatial and temporal variation of factors influencing oxygen loss in a temperate lake. M.Sc. Thesis, Trent University, Peterborough, Ontario. 69 p. Mathias, J.A. and J. Barica. 1980. Factors controlling

oxygen depletion in ice-covered lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37: 185-194.

Mortimer, C.H. 1971. Chemical exchanges between sediments and water in the great lakes-speculations on probable mechanisms. Limnol. Oceanogr. 16: 387-404.

Pennak, R.W. 1968. Field and experimental winter limnology of three Colorado mountain lakes. Ecol. 49: 505-520.

Riley, E.T. 1983. Internal phosphorus loading from the sediments and the phosphorus-chlorophyll model in shallow lakes. M.Sc. Thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta. 94 p.

- Rhode, W. 1955. Can plankton production proceed during winter darkness in sub-arctic lakes. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol. 12: 117-122.
- Schindler, D.W. and J.E. Nighswander. 1970. Nutrient supply and primary production in Clear Lake, eastern Ontario. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 27: 2009-2036.
- Schindler, D.W. 1971. A hypothesis to explain differences and similarities among lakes in the Experimental Lakes

Area, northwestern Ontario. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 28: 295-301.

- Schneberger, E.[ed.]. 1970. A symposium on management of midwestern winterkill lakes. Spec. Publ. N. Centr. Div. Am. Fish Soc.
- Scidmore, W.J. 1957. An investigation of carbon dioxide, ammonia and hydrogen sulfide as factors contributing to fish kills in ice covered lakes. Prog. Fi⁻¹ Cult. 124-157

Strom, K.M. 1931. Feforvatn: A physiographic and biological study of a mountain lake. Arch. Hydrobiol. 22: 491-536. Thienemann, A. 1928. Der Sauerstoff im eutrophen und

oligotrophen Seen. Die Binnengewaesser 4. 195 p.

Welch, H.E., P.J. Dillon and A. Sreedharan. 1976. Factors affecting winter respiration in Ontario lakes. J. Fish.

Res. Board Can. 33: 1809-1815.

Wright, R.T. 1964. Dynamics of a phytoplankton community in _ an ice-covered lake. Limnol. Oceanogr. 9: 163-178.

Zobell, C.E. and J. Stodler. 1940. The effect of oxygen

tension on the oxygen uptake of lake bacteria. J. Bact. 39: 307-322.

II. Modelling Winter Oxygen Depletion Rates in Temperate Zone Lakes

A. Introduction

Several researchers have investigated patterns in winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR) (Welch et al. 1976; Barica and Mathias 1979), factors controlling WODR (eg. Mathias and Barica 1980) and ways to reduce WODR (Wirth 1970; Barica et al. 1983). Recently, Jackson and Lasenby (1982) constructed two models to predict oxygen profiles under ice in lakes located on the Precambrian Shield and in limestone basins in Ontario.

Winter oxygen depletion rates have been studied in two extreme lake types in temperate regions of Canada: the relatively deep, oligotrophic lakes on the Precambrian Shield (Welch et al. 1976) and the shallow, eutrophic, prairie pothole lakes in southwestern Manitoba (Barica and Mathias 1979) (mean depths (\bar{z}) ranged from 4-27 and 2-4 m and mean summer chlorophyll *a* (Chl *a*) concentrations in the euphotic zone ranged from 1-2 and 5-102 mg·m⁻³, respectively, for the two lake types). Although \bar{z} was the best predictor of WODR in both lake types, the mathematical relationships were different (Welch et al. 1976; Barica and Mathias 1979). Thus, empirical models to predict WODR pertain to relatively specific lake types in different regions. Winter oxygen depletion rates are also affected by snow cover (Barica et al. 1983) and the amount of organic material produced in a lake (Mathias and Barica 1980). However, neither snow cover nor estimates of lake productivity have been incorporated into models to predict WODR. In contrast, models to predict summer areal hypolimnetic oxygen deficits (AHOD) do incorporate measures of both morphometry and productivity (Cornett and Rigler 1979, 1980; Charlton 1980).

Winterkill is a common phenomenon in lakes in central Alberta. Thus, considerable interest exists in factors controlling WODR in these lakes. However, Albertan lakes are different from other temperate zone lakes studied in Canada; they may be as productive as the prairie pothole lakes, but are much deeper (Prepas and Trew 1983). To test whether either existing WODR models are applicable in Albertan lakes, data were collected on 13 lakes. These data were also used to construct an empirical model to predict WODR for Albertan lakes, and were combined with other data in the literature to test the contribution of lake productivity to WODR.

To estimate WODR, water samples are collected over the deepest part and treated as representative of the whole lake (Welch et al. 1976; Barica and Mathias 1979; Jackson and Lasenby 1982). This approach assumes that oxygen concentrations are homogeneous within horizontal strata; an hypothesis which has never been rigorously tested. To determine if one-site-sampling is adequate for estimating whole-lake oxygen mass, samples were collected from six to

seven sites in each of five lakes for comparison with results from a single station.

B. The Study Lakes

The 13 lakes in this study are located in central Alberta within a 160 km radius of the city of Edmonton. The lakes range in size from 0.08 to 4.4 km² (see appendix B for bathymetric maps). All lakes are underlain by 10 to 40 m of glacial till. Total dissolved solids in the lakes ranges from 150 to 390 mg·L-' and colour ranges from 2 to 25 mg·L-' Pt. The lakes were chosen to encompass large ranges in morphometry and productivity: \bar{z} of the lakes ranges from 3 to 19 m and trophic status varies from oligotrophic to hypereutrophic (mean summer euphotic zone Chl a ranges from 2 to 155 mg ${\rm \tilde{m}}^{-3}$). Background data for the lakes are in Prepas and Trew (1983) and Prepas and Wisheu (1984). Two lakes, Amisk and Baptiste, have distinct north and south basins. Both basins of Amisk were sampled and only the deep south basin of 'Baptiste' was sampled; all three basins were treated as separate lakes. Each of the remaining lakes was sampled at only one site. Seven of these lakes have simple basins with a single deep spot, two lakes, Eden and Sauer, each have two distinct deep spots and the remaining lake, Hubbles, has three deep spots. None of the study lakes have major inflows or outflows (Prepas 1983, unpublished), hence the main source of organic matter in the lakes is from autochthonous production.

C. Materials and Methods

The study lakes were permanently ice-covered by 5-11 November, 1982, and remained frozen until the third week in April, 1983. Each lake was visited seven to 13 times from just prior to freeze-up until one month before break-up. On each visit, water samples were collected over the deepest part of the lake with an aluminum drop-sleeve water bottle. Water for dissolved oxygen (DO) analyses was collected every 1 or 2 m from the top of the hydrostatic water level to the lake bottom or to where it became anoxic as evidenced by the smell of hydrogen sulfide. These samples were fixed immediately (Carpenter 1965) and, to avoid freezing,\ transported back to the laboratory in insulated boxes containing hot-water bottles.

To determine the potential contribution of algae to the lake oxygen mass under ice-cover, water was also collected for Chl *a* analyses. For the first one and a half months, samples were collected at 1-m intervals from 1 to 4 m and for the remainder of the winter, samples were collected to a depth of 5 to 24 m and pooled into strata 2 to 6 m deep. Water samples for Chl *a* analyses were placed in 2-L amber Nalgene bottles and transported to the laboratory. To estimate spring and summer productivity in the lakes, total phosphorus (TP) and Chl *a* levels in the euphotic zone for ten of the lakes are from Prepas and Vickery (1984). For two lakes, Nakamun and Halfmoon, TP and Chl *a* values are from Riley (1983). I sampled the 13th lake, Hubbles, five times from May 14 to Aug. 26, 1982. In this study, water samples for TP and Chl a analyses were collected with Tygon tubing at three stations and pooled. These samples were collected from the euphotic zone, defined as the depth to 1% surface irradiance, of the photosynthetically active radiation, as measured with a Lambda L1-185 light meter equipped with an underwater sensor, or 2 times Secchi disc depth (SD).

To determine whether organic content of the sediments is an estimate of lake productivity which can be used to predict WODR, sediment samples were collected from 12 of the study lakes during the summers of 1982 and 1983. The number of samples collected (4-8) on each lake increased in proportion to lake size. These samples were collected randomly from each lake with a four-barrel corer (Hamilton et al. 1970). The top 5 cm was removed from each core and pooled with other cores from that site. The samples were brought back to the laboratory and frozen until they could be analyzed for loss on ignition (LOI).

Detailed morphometric data were already available for five of the study lakes (Prepas and Trew 1983, unpublished). The remaining eight lakes were sounded with a Furuno model Fe-400 depth sounder. Morphometric data were determined from the bathymetric maps with a Tallos digitizer connected to a Hewlett.Packard 9825B desk-top computer supplied by Alberta Energy and Natural Resources.

Dissolved oxygen concentration was determined on duplicate water samples based on Carpenter's (1965)

modification of the Winkler technique. Most samples were titrated within 12 h of collection and all were titrated within 24 h. To determine the accuracy of the method for collecting DO samples, I compared the average DO values from duplicate water samples. The average difference between independent oxygen samples collected at the same site and depth was 0.07 mg·L⁻¹ and the range was 0.01 to 0.32 mg·L⁻¹. Percent oxygen saturation of the lakes was determined based on oxygen saturation tables in Cole (1983). Duplicate samples for Chl a analyses were prepared within 12 h of collection by filtering 0.05 to 2 L of lake water, depending on cell density, through glass fiber filters. Chlorophyll a was determined with the ethanol extraction technique of Bergmann and Peters (1980). Total phosphorus was determined on duplicate 50 mL samples of lake water with the persulfate method of Prepas and Rigler (1982). Loss on ignition (LOI) was determined by the weight loss of dried sediment samples baked at 550°C for 24 h. The LOI was not corrected for dehydration of the samples (Hargrave 1975). Loss on ignition estimates for all samples on each lake were combined to yield an average whole-lake estimate of LOI.

For each winter visit, oxygen mass was determined for each stratum from the product of stratum volume and oxygen concentration; these data were summed to yield whole-lake oxygen mass. The volume of the top 1-m was corrected for ice thickness. The whole-lake oxygen mass was divided by the under-ice surface area of the lake to yield the areal oxygen

mass (g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2}$) (Welch 1974). To calculate WODR (g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$), areal oxygen mass was regressed against days past freeze-up; the slope of this regression line is the WODR.

To develop empirical models for the lakes in central Alberta, WODR were regressed against estimates of spring and summer productivity (TP, Chl a, and LOI) and mean and maximum depth (\bar{z} and Zmax, respectively). Volumetric $(mg \cdot m^{-3})$ and areal $(mg \cdot m^{-2})$ expressions were used for TP and Chl a; the areal expressions were calculated as the product of TP and Chl a concentrations in the euphotic zone and the depth of the euphotic zone. To construct a general model to predict WODR, data (*i.e.*, WODR, z, TP, and Chl a) from other temperate zone lakes (Schindler 1971; Dillon and Rigler 1974; Reid et al. 1975; Welch et al. 1976; Barica et al. 1978; Barica and Mathias 1979) were combined with data from this study and analysed by regression analyses. Spring was defined as 27 May-14 June for Alberta data collected in 1982. Summer was defined as 15 June-15 Sept. for Alberta data collected in 1982 (after Prepas and Vickery 1984), and end of May until end of August for unpublished data collected on Ontario lakes. Spring and summer data from published sources were used as published.

The regression analyses were performed with the BMDP statistical package program P1R (Dixon 1981) on the Amdahl model 5860 computer at the University of Alberta. Other statistical analyses were from Snedecor and Cochran (1980)
or Prepas (1984). All values in this report are expressed as means ± standard error, except where noted.

To evaluate the difference's between predictions of WODR with summer areal hypolimnetic oxygen depletion (AHOD) models and WODR models, I compared the residual mean squares (RMS) for each of four AHOD models with the RMS for the WODR model(s). The RMS for each model was calculated as follows:

RMS = $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (pred_i - obs_i)^2 / df$

where pred, is the predicted WODR (from the AHOD model) and obs, is the observed WODR for each lake (i), and df is the degrees of freedom. For each model, df was defined as number of data points minus one minus the number of independent variables in the model. Since multiple comparisons were made in this analysis, the chance of committing a type I error was greater than the value given in a standard *F*-table; therefore, a probability level of 0.02 was used to distinguish significance.

D. Results

Fall Turnover

Just prior to freeze-up, DO levels were surprisingly low in 12 of the 13 study lakes; the average oxygen saturation level was calculated to be 69% at the time of freeze-up, with values as low as 51%. Only one lake, Hasse, was almost fully saturated (94%) (Table 1). These findings

are contrary to observations in other areas; e.g. in the pothole lakes of Manitoba, oxygen saturation levels are 80-100% just prior to freeze-up (Barica and Mathias 1979). Jackson and Lasenby (1982) reported that the maximum volume-weighted oxygen content of the Ontario lakes that they studied, was achieved approximately 15 days after freeze-up; this is not the case in the Albertan lakes. In only four of the 13 lakes, the saturation level increased between the time of freeze-up and the first sampling date, possibly due to relatively high oxygen consumption relative to the inputs of oxygen via freezeout and photosynthesis. Not only were DO levels low in the study lakes in the fall, but mixing was incomplete in two of them. A layer of anoxic water up to 5-m high remained over at least 18% of the sediments in the deepest part of Twin Lake. In Hubbles Lake, up to 9-m of water, overlying 15% of the sediments, was anoxic. Since oxygen consumption in lakes is mainly caused by bacteria at the sediment-water interface (Brewer et al. 1977), incomplete circulation could reduce oxygen depletion rates in the water column. Consequently, for the subsequent analyses, WODR for Twin and Hubbles lakes were not pooled with those from the remaining 11 study lakes where DO levels were above zero over the entire sediment area prior to freeze-up.

Lake Cover and Chlorophyll a

During the visits to the lakes while they were ice-covered, ice thickness at the sampling sites averaged 44.1 ± 1.35 cm and average snow depth was 8.2 ± 0.94 cm. White ice was noted only on Twin Lake; it was 2.5 cm deep. The total snowfall at Edmonton International Airport during the winter of 1982-83 was 0.92 m, which was lower (*t*-test, P<0.001) than the previous 30-yr average (1.25 m) (Environment Canada). Consequently, the amount of light entering the lakes during the winter of 1983 was greater than during an average winter.

In 12 of the study lakes, Chl a concentration in the top 4 m decreased with the onset of ice-cover and remained low until late February or early March, as illustrated with data from Lessard Lake (Fig. 1). In these 12 lakes, average Chl a concentration in the top 4 m between freeze-up and March 6, 1983, was 2.9 \pm 0.55 mg·m⁻³ while after March 6 it rose to 4.6 \pm 1.42 mg·m⁻³. For the same lakes, average snow depth during these two periods was 7.3 \pm 0.89 cm and 10.3 \pm 1.15 cm, respectively. In the 13th lake, Halfmoon, a bloom of algae (32 mg·m⁻³ Chl a) was recorded at a depth of 1 m on December 14 but decreased to 3 mg·m⁻³ Chl a 10 days later. This algae bloom could have introduced oxygen under the ice but the DO level at 1 m decreased from 6.6 mg+L⁻¹ on . December 14 to 4.8 $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ on December 24. Snow-cover on Halfmoon Lake for these same two dates was 4 cm and 5 cm, respectively. In March, 1983, DO and Chl a levels increased

in the top few meters in 10 of the lakes as illustrated in Fig. 2 with data from Sauer Lake. In Sauer Lake, Chl *a* increased five fold (from 3.3 to 15.8 mg·m⁻³) in the top 4 m while DO increased 18 fold (from 0.06 to 1.2 mg·L⁻¹) in the same stratum between March 2 and March 25, 1983. Since DO and Chl *a* levels began systematic increases under ice only after early March, 1983, photosynthesis probably contributed an insignificant amount to oxygen levels between freeze-up and early March, 1983.

Dissolved Oxygen

For the first 112 days past freeze-up, the mass of DO $(g \cdot m^{-2})$ decreased systematically in all lakes. Beginning in early March, changes in the mass of DO followed two distinct patterns: in three lakes DO increased while in the remaining 10 lakes it continued to decrease, but at a lower rate than previously. Since DO levels systematically decreased in all lakes during the first 112 days past freeze-up and during the same period there was no evidence that a significant amount of oxygen was added to the lakes via photosynthesis, WODR were calculated for this 112-day period. Winter oxygen depletion rates, although systematic, were not linear, during the 112-day period; rather WODR were more rapid at the beginning than at the end of this period. To illustrate this pattern, the data for the 112-day period were subdivided into two periods: (1) the first three sampling dates and (2) the remaining sampling dates, and WODR were calculated for

both periods. Since a minimum of three points are needed to construct a regression line, subdivided WODR were only calculated for the eight lakes which had a minimum of six sampling dates during the 112-day period. For these eight lakes, the WODR for the first three sampling dates were consistantly higher than rates based on the remaining dates (Wilcoxon signed-rank test, P<0.05) (Table 2). These results were surprising; WODR are traditionally considered as linear until average whole-lake DO levels fall below 3 mg·L⁻¹ (Mathias and Barica 1980). My data do not support this hypothesis; e.g., in two lakes, Lessard and Eden, average whole lake DO levels remained above 3.6 and 4.0 mg \cdot L⁻¹, respectively, during the 112-day period when WODR were calculated. Yet in these same lakes, WODR just after freeze-up were 54 and 68% higher, respectively, than later in the 112-day period (Table 2). Thus, in this study, WODR were nonlinear regardless of DO levels. Since changes in the mass of DO were nonlinear in the study lakes, a suitable transformation was sought for these data. The best transformation for the mass of DO (X) vs. time was a power function: $X' = X^{\circ} \cdot \cdot \cdot \cdot$. For 12 of the 13 lakes, the correlation between the transformed DO data and days past freeze-up was better than or equal to the correlation based on the untransformed data (Table 2). These data are the first WODR treated as a nonlinear process. Thus these data cannot be compared with any existing WODR models. I examined the relationship between two morphometric parameters ($ar{z}$ and

Zmax), four parameters used as estimates of annual production of organic matter (LOI, spring TP, summer TP and summer Chl *a* levels) and WODR based on the transformed data (WODR') (Table 3). Winter oxygen depletion rates based on transformed data (WODR') were positively correlated with all variables except LOI. The significant negative relationship between LOI and WODR' is hard to explain. Surprisingly, the only positive significant relationships were between estimates of open water productivity (TP and Chl *a*) and WODR' (Table 3); the best predictors of WODR' were summer TP and Chl *a* (TPsu and Chl *a*) in $mg \cdot m^{-2}$:

> WODR' = 0.005 + 0.00047 TPsu (1) WODR' = 0.062 + 0.00052 Chl a (2)

These results are contrary to investigations on two other groups of lakes (Welch et al. 1976; Barica and Mathias 1979) where DO data were not transformed prior to calculating WODR. In the other investigations, morphometric parameters were much better predictors of WODR than estimates of summer productivity, whereas summer productivity was the best estimator of WODR with the transformed WODR data from this study.

Although data from this study suggest that models to predict WODR are best based on transformed DO data, untransformed data must be used to compare WODR in Albertan lakes with temperate zone lakes in other regions. Thus the subsequent discussion is based on WODR calculated with the original data.

In the 13 Albertan lakes, WODR covered twice the range, 0.193 to $(48 \text{ g } O_2 \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot \text{d}^{-1})$, as that observed in the two previous studies on WODR in Canadian lakes (Fig. 3). The WODR for the Albertan lakes were tested against existing empirical models. The model for lakes on the Precambrian Shield which are similar in depth but less productive (Welch et al. 1976) consistently underestimated WODR in the Albertan lakes (Wilcoxon signed-rank test, P < 0.01). Conversely, the model for the generally shallower prairie pothole lakes (Barica and Mathias 1979) consistently overestimated WODR in the Albertan lakes (Wilcoxon signed-rank test, P < 0.05) (Table 4, Fig. 3).

To compare WODR in Albertan lakes with the lakes on the Precambrian shield and in southern Manitoba, WODR in the Albertan lakes were regressed against parameters indicative of lake morphometry and productivity (Table 3). Based on untransformed data, patterns in the Albertan lakes were comparable with the studies in other regions (Welch et al. 1976; Barica and Mathias 1979); morphometry was a stronger predictor of WODR than estimates of productivity. The best predictor of WODR was mean depth (\bar{z} in m):

WODR = $0.20 + 0.036 \bar{z}$ (3) Unfortunately, too few Albertan lakes were sampled to construct multiple regressions on these data alone. Productivity, as estimated by spring and summer TP, was significantly correlated with WODR only when TP was expressed on an areal basis. Thus all further calculations are based on areal expressions of productivity estimates.

A serious limitation with the existing models to predict WODR is that they work only in the region where they were developed. These published models to predict WODR are based only on morphometry (Welch et al. 1976; Barica and Mathias 1979). However, there are numerous suggestions that oxygen depletion rates are a function of both \bar{z} and lake productivity (Table 3, this study; Mathias and Barica 1980; Charlton 1980; Cornett and Rigler 1980). Previously, data were insufficient to test whether a model incorporating both morphometry and estimates of productivity: (1) could be developed to predict WODR and (2) would be generally applicable to north temperate zone lakes. To develop a model to predict WODR over a wide range of lake types, estimates of WODR, open-water productivity, and morphometry from 48 lakes in Alberta, central and northwestern Ontario, and Manitoba (Table 5) were combined. These lakes covered a broad range in terms of mean depth (1.5 \leq \geq 22.7 m), and estimates of summer productivity (2≤ Chl $a \le 184 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{m}^{-2}$ and 24 \leq TP \leq 222 mg·m^-²) in the euphotic zone. Unfortunately TP data were not collected for the Manitoban lakes and TP estimates were available for only six lakes in northwestern Ontario. In the combined data set, WODR were strongly correlated with estimates of lake productivity and morphometry (Table 6). However, contrary to the results reported for regional data sets (excluding the transformed data set for the Albertan lakes), estimates of productivity

were stronger single predictors of WODR than morphometry. Thus morphometric variables are better predictors of WODR within regions of similar productivity, but between regions of differing productivity, productivity is the strongest predictor of WODR. Next, I combined \bar{z} with the estimates of productivity to examine whether a multiple regression would improve on the linear models to predict WODR. In all three cases, including estimates of both morphometry and open-water productivity improved the WODR models (Table 6). In each multiple regression, the estimate of open-water productivity explained more of the variation, in WODR than morphometry. The WODR model based on summer TP (mg·m⁻²) and \bar{z} had the highest correlation:

WODR = -0.101 + 0.00247 TPsu + $0.0134 \bar{z}$ (4) However, TP data were available for fewer lakes than Chl *a*. When regressions were run on the lakes where summer TP data were available, but incorporating WODR, Chl *a*, and \bar{z} in the regression, the correlation was highly significant (r =0.78, P < 0.0001) but lower than when summer TP was used. Thus, summer TP is a better predictor of WODR than Chl *a*. However, models based on \bar{z} and some estimate of productivity, TP or Chl *a*, can be used to predict WODR over a wide range of lakes in north temperate regions.

One-Site-Sampling

In the five lakes where DO profiles were taken at more than one site, considerable horizontal variations in DO

levels were found. There was no consistent pattern in the DO profiles at the various stations; depth at site sampled did not influence DO levels. For instance, on 22 January, 1983, in Lessard Lake at a depth of 1 m, DO concentration increased from 7.4 mg·L⁻¹ at the site of maximum depth to 9.6 $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ at the site where the depth was only 1 m; whereas on 9 January, 1983, in Halfmoon Lake at a depth of 1 m, DO concentration decreased from 2.1 mg·L⁻¹ at the site of maximum depth to 0.9 mg·L⁻¹ at the site where the depth was only 1 m. To illustrate the possible error when only one site is sampled and the whole-lake oxygen mass is based on that site, oxygen profiles collected at six sites in Wizard Lake on 7 March, 1983, (Table 7) were used. To calculate DO mass for the whole lake based on all the sampling sites, DO mass was calculated for each site and summed together. To calculate the mass of oxygen at each site, the volume of each stratum was divided by the number of samples taken at that stratum depth. The DO concentration of each sample from each site, was multiplied by the corresponding volume associated with the sample, and all were summed together to provide the whole-lake oxygen mass. Whole-lake oxygen mass was divided by the volume of the lake to yield average oxygen concentration. The average DO value was 47% higher when data from all stations were used rather than data from the site of maximum depth (2.2 and 1.5 mg·L⁻¹, respectively).

To further illustrate the possible errors which could result when whole-lake oxygen mass is calculated from data collected at only one site, three separate estimates of oxygen mass (g·m⁻²) were made for the upper 8 m of Wizard Lake. At each station that was a minimum of 8 m deep, the DO concentration at each depth was multiplied by the whole-lake stratum volume corresponding to the depth of the sample. The results were summed to yield oxygen mass in the upper 8 m and divided by the under-ice surface area. Oxygen mass calculated in this manner ranged from 8.1 to 16.8 g·m⁻²; the main station had 8.5 g·m⁻². Thus, it appears that sampling at more than one site would improve estimates of whole-lake oxygen mass over one-site-sampling for Albertan lakes. However, in all sampling programmes, a trade-off must be made between the number of lakes sampled during the winter and the number of sites sampled on a lake at each visit.

E. Discussion

Previous authors (Welch et al. 1976; Barica and Mathias 1979; Mathias and Barica 1980) have reported that WODR are linear throughout the winter as long as average lake DO remains above anywhere from 1 to 3 mg·L⁻¹. Data from this study do not support the generality of this observation. One possible explanation for the non-linear trends in my data is that WODR for the Albertan lakes are based on a longer time interval than previous studies. The WODR for the prairie pothole lakes were based on approximately 90 d (Barica and

Mathias 1979) as were the Ontario lakes (Welch et al. 1976). The nonlinear trends in WODR in this study can be explained if some organic material in the sediments is more easily oxidized and is used up first (Edberg 1976; Jackson and Lasenby 1982). The rate of oxygen supply to the sediments may also influence WODR. Since oxygen depletion rates are greatest at the sediment-water interface, whole-lake oxygen depletion is, in part, governed by the rate of oxygen supply to the sediments. The rate of oxygen supply to the sediment is a function of the distance to the sediments from water containing oxygen and the concentration of the water

oxygen flux rate = K.(oxygen concentration gradient) where K is the eddy diffusion constant (Mathias and Barica 1980). All of the Albertan lakes that mixed to the bottom at fall overturn developed clinograde oxygen profiles during the winter as shown by data from Baptiste South (Fig. 4). As the winter progressed, the DO in the lake decreased, the distance from the sediments to water containing DO increased, thus the oxygen flux rate could have also decreased. Methods to accurately measure the movement of oxygen from open water to the sediment-water interface need to be developed to assess the effect(s) of changing oxygen supply rates on WODR.

To test whether incomplete mixing at fall overturn would depress WODR, the data on Hubbles and Twin lakes were examined. Total phosphorus in Twin Lake (69 mg·m⁻²) is

outside of the range of TP values used to construct Eq. 1 (97 to 223 mg·m⁻²), thus no comparison should be made between the predicted and observed WODR' for Twin Lake. The observed transformed WODR for Hubbles Lake (0.0846) was inside the 95% confidence interval predicted from Eq. 1 (0.0576 \pm 0.0472), however the observed value was 41% higher than the predicted value. A possible explanation for why the observed WODR' is higher, rather than lower, than the predicted rate is that Hubble's Lake was sampled at only one location and there are three distinct deep spots, thus the error in the measured WODR may be greater than in the other Albertan lakes. Both Twin and Hubbles lakes have summer Chl a levels (6 and 21 mg·m⁻²) below the range of Chl a values used to generate Eq. 2 (27 to $147 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{m}^{-2}$), thus it is not possible to accurately predict WODR from Eq. 2 for these two lakes. Both Twin and Hubbles lakes have summer TP and mean depth values within the range of data used to generate Eq. 4; the predicted WODR, calculated from Eq. 4, for these two lakes (± 95% confidence interval) were: Hubbles, 0.311 ± 0.1638 and Twin, 0.279 g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1} \pm 0.1702$. The observed WODR for the lakes were: Hubbles, 0.475 and Twin, 0.193 g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$. As noted earlier, the observed WODR for Hubbles Lakes is probably incorrect due to inadequate sampling. Thus, more data are needed to determine the effect(s) of incomplete fall overturn on WODR.

To obtain better estimates of the oxygen content in lakes, data from this study suggest samples should be

collected at several stations. Further research is needed to determine the extent, magnitude and cause(s) of spatial heterogeneity of DO profiles in lakes under ice-cover. Some likely causes are: (1) groundwater entering the lake, (2) differential oxygen depletion at various sites in the lake (Linsey 1981) and, (3) localized inputs of oxygen to the lake.

Jackson and Lasenby (1982) constructed two models that predict oxygen profiles in lakes under ice-cover: one model for lakes situated on the Precambrian Shield and another for lakes situated in limestone basins. These models are based on the oxygen concentration in the lake 5 to 15 . fter freeze-up. The two models were tested against t pertan lake data to determine if oxygen profiles could be predicted. The model developed for lakes located on the Precambrian Shield consistently overestimated the final DO levels in the Albertan lakes by an average of 2.5 mg \cdot L⁻¹; conversely, the model for lakes $\frac{P}{2}$ in limestone basins consistently underestimated the final oxygen levels by an average of almost 2.0 mg·L⁻'. An underlying assumption of the models is that lakes in limestone basins are more productive than those on the Precambrian Shield; hence, DO is depleted faster in the limestone basin lakes. Jackson and Lasenby's model for lakes on the Precambrian Shield is based on only five lakes where the maximum depth ranges from eight to 33 m and average summer Chl a is approximately 2 mg·m⁻³. The model developed for lakes in limestone basins is based

on only three lakes where the maximum depth ranges from 16 to 18 m; summer productivity estimates are not available for these lakes, however they are probably more productive than the shield lakes but less productive than the Albertan lakes. Since the Albertan lakes are more productive than Ontario lakes, both on the Precambrian Shield and in limestone basins (mean summer Chl <u>a</u> concentration (mg·m⁻³ in 19 Ontario lakes was 1.4 (Dillon and Rigler 1974) and in 27 Albertan lakes was 26.5 (Prepas and Trew 1983)) it was expected that both models would predict higher final oxygen levels than observed in the Albertan lakes. Thus, the results were unexpected. However, it is possible that with a larger data set, incorporating an estimate of productivity into models which predict oxygen profiles under ice-cover will improve their generality.

If the same processes are influencing WODR and summer areal hypolimnetic oxygen, deficits (AHOD), AHOD models may predict WODR. Four AHOD models were chosen and tested with WODR data from the Albertan lakes. The four AHOD models chosen require inputs which were available for the Albertan lakes: estimates of open-water productivity (SD, summer TP and Chl *a* levels), morphometry (\bar{z}) , and water temperature (Lasenby 1975; Charlton 1980; Cornett and Rigler 1980). To assess the accuracy with which the AHOD models predicted WODR, I compared the residual mean squares (RMS) from the predicted WODR and the observed WODE for the 11 Albertan lakes (Table 4) with the RMS from Eq. 3 (RMS of equation 3

is 0.0078). Although the RMS for the AHOD models were four to 50 times greater than for Eq. 3, only Lasenby's model explained statistically less variation than the WODR model on the Albertan lakes (*F*-test, two tailed, P<0.005). The AHOD models by Cornett and Rigler, and Charlton each explained approximately the same amount of variation of WODR in the 11 Albertan lakes, and although the RMS's for the AHOD models were four times greater than the RMS from Eq. 3, the differences were not statistically significant (*F*-test, two tailed, 0.05 < P < 0.20).

To determine if the AHOD models could predict WODR over a broad range of lake types, I compared the RMS from Eq. 4 (RMS = 0.0065) to the RMS for the two AHOD models of Cornett and Rigler, based on the same lakes used to construct Eq. 4. The RMS for model #3, Table 4, based on mean summer TP and mean depth, was 0.0124 and the RMS for model #4, Table 4, based on mean summer SD and mean depth, was 0.0137. Although the RMS for the two AHOD models are approximately twice as great as the RMS for Eq. 4, the differences are not statistically significant (0.02<P<0.10). Thus, it appears that WODR can be accurately predicted from equations that incorporate estimates of both productivity and morphometry.

The most important parameter in the models to predict WODR and AHOD over a broad range of lake types are estimates of open-water productivity (summer TP or Chl *a*) (This study, Table 6; Cornett and Rigler 1980; Charlton 1980). Both WODR and AHOD are influenced by morphometry but to a lesser

degree than productivity. Summer hypolimnetic oxygen depletion is also influenced by temperature (Charlton 1980; Cornett 1981) and WODR could be as well, although sufficient data do not exist to test this hypothesis. Incorporating temperature in equations to predict AHOD is warranted since there may be large temperature differences in the hypolimnia of various lakes in summer; Charlton (1980) reported mean summer hypolimnetic temperatures ranging from 4.0 to 11.0°C in the Laurentian Great Lakes. During the period of ice-cover, the temperature variation between lakes is not as great as the temperature variation between lake hypolimnia during summer; Jackson (1979) reported mean winter volume-weighted temperatures ranging from 3.0 to 3.4°C in three lakes in Ontario, and the variation in mean winter volume-weighted temperatures in the Albertan lakes was 2.2 to 3.4°C. Although biological processes are influenced by temperature, there is little variation in temperature between ice-covered lakes, and thus the influence of temperature on WODR is likely less than on AHOD.

The models developed to predict WODR over a broad range of lake types need to be tested with an independent data set to determine their accuracy. Data from lakes outside the original data set, e.g. shallow and unproductive, need to be collected to improve the generality of the models.

Table 1. Percent oxygen saturation in 13 Alberta lakes during fall and early winter, 1982. Measured oxygen saturation on the last visit before freeze-up (Prior), the first visit after freeze-up (Post), and predicted oxygen saturation on date of freeze-up calculated from the Y-intercept of the regression of transformed oxygen mass against time (Predicted). Numbers in parenthesis refer to the number of days before or after freeze-up when the lake was visited.† indicates lake did not mix to the bottom at fall turnover.[/]

2	% OXYGEN SAT	FURATION				
-	Measu	ured	Pre	edicted		
LAKE	Prior	Post				
Amisk N	64(5)	64(21)	× .	66		·
Amisk S	52(1)	54(21)		55		•
Baptiste S	58(5)	67(21)		70	•	
Eden	62(1)	72(12)		67		
Halfmoon	48(11)	55(9)	•	64		
Hasse .	94(9)	97(11)	•	97		· ·
Hubbles†	53(12)	54(9)	ана - Сарана - Сара	55		
Lessard	65(19)	82(14)	· ·	77	н сторона 1	
Nakamun	60(9)	52(12)		52		
Peanut	66(21)	70(7)		68	.	
Sauer	72(11)	72(10)		77		
Twin†	47(4)	59(12)		51	· .	•
Wizard	88(9)	67(15)	• •	81		

Table 2: Winter oxygen depletion rates $(g O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1})$ during the first 112 days past freeze-up, and correlation coefficients, r, for the mass of oxygen (on linear and transformed, X' = $X^{\circ} \cdot {}^{\circ}$, data) vs days past freeze-up: All, rate covering entire 112-day period; Early, rate based on first three sampling dates; Later, rate based on remaining dates; Trans, rate calculated on All data transformed. Sample size is indicated in parenthesis. † indicates lake did not mix to bottom at fall turnover.

	WINTE	ER OXYGEN	DEPLETION	I RATES		r Í
LAKE	ALL .	EARLY	LATER	TRANS	ALL	TRANS
Amisk N	0.554(5)			0.0877	0.98	0.99
Amisk S	0.848(5)			0.1162	0.98	0.99
Baptiste S	0.775(5)			0.1180	0.99	0.99
Eden	0.331(7)	0.481(3)	0.286(4)	0.0582	0.99	1.00
Halfmoon	0.462(6)	0.373(3)	0.448(3)	0.1352	0.99	0.98
Hasse	0.373(6)。	0.426(3)	0.315(3)	0.0799	1.00	1.00
Hubbles†.	0.475(7)	0.345(3)	0.520(4)	0.0846	0.99	0.99
Lessard	0.243(8)	0.342(3)	0.222(5)	0.0518	0.99	0.99
lakamun	0.281(10)	0.587(3)	0.184(7)	0.0773	0.96	0.98
Peanut	0.405(7)	0.512(3)	0.363(4)	0.0881	1.00	1.00
Sauer	0.363(6)	0.428(3)	0.271(3)	0.0988	0.99	1.00
Win†	0.193(5)	· 		0.0258	0.99	0.99
lizard	0.533(5)		; *	0.1052	0.99	0.99

Table 3: Correlation coefficients for winter oxygen depletion rates (g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$), both transformed (X' = X° · · ⁵) and linear data vs six parameters: mean depth (z), maximum depth (Zmax), loss on ignition (LOI), spring and summer total phosphorus (TPsp and TPsu), and summer chlorophyll a (Chl a), in Albertan lakes. Phosphorus and chlorophyll are expressed per unit area of the lake and per unit volume of the trophogenic zone. Significant correlations are indicated by: *(P<0.05), **(P<0.01), and ***(P<0.005).

Parameter	Transformed	Linear	
z (m)	0.41	. 0.90***	Q
Zmax (m)	0.36	0.82**	
LOI (%)	-0.72*	-0.36	
TPsp (mg·m ⁻²)	0.46	0.73**	•
TPsu (mg•m⁻²)	0.72*	0.64*	
Chl $a (mg \cdot m^{-2})$	0.72*	0.37	-
TPsp (mg·m ⁻)	0.68*	0.23	` `
TPsu (mg•m⁻³)	0.46	0.01	c. '
Chl a (mg·m ⁻)	0.40	-0.09	

Deviations of predicted winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR) from WODR for 11 Albertan lakes. The predicted values are based on six hypolimnetic oxygen depletion (AHOD) models (3,4,546). RMS is the residual which are listed below: two WODR models (1&2) and four summer areal associated with each model. (---- indicates WODR were not calculated since mean square associated with the model, and df is the degrees of freedom SD is less than 1 m) e e m C H ი ქ

¢

2

Lake			MODEL			
		. 2	Ю	4	S	9
Amisk N	-0.345	0.253	-0.085	-0.050	0 1 20	
Amisk S	-0.535	.0.502	-0.254	-0.158	ACT 0	212.0-
Baptiste S	-0.544	0.149	-0.243	-0.287		70C.U-
Eden	-0.168	0.242	-0.030	-0.074		
Halfmoon	-0.325	-0.025	0.079	0.088		0.312
Hasse	-0.248	-0.004	-0.116	-0.150	510.0- 721 0-	1.5U5.1
Lessard	-0.116	0.141	0.037	0 - 084	121.0	0.1/2
Nakamun	-0.152	0.131	0.261		0 105	8 C D D
Peanut	-0.261	0.076	-0.109	-0.175		
Sauer	-0.233	0.036	-0.083	-0.174		077.0
Wizard	-0,379	-0.008	-0.072	0.079	0.021	-0.278
RMS	0.1322	0.0491	0.0306	0.0313	0 0208	1001 0
df	6	б ``	∞	- L		0.0044

Table 4 cont'd)

0.12(1.15(Ch1 a)^{1.33}) (modified from Charlton 1980) Where Z is mean depth, SD is mean summer Secchi disc depth, TP is mean summer (Cornett and Rigler 1980) $\log_{10}AHOD = 2.45 - 0.67\log_{10}(SD) + 0.47\log_{10}(\bar{z})$ (Cornett and Rigler 1980) in the euphotic zone and t is mean lake temperature under ice-cover (modified đ total phosphorus in the euphotic zone, Chl a is mean summer chlorophyll $9 + 1.15(Chl a)^{1.33}$ log₁₀AHOD = -1.37log₁₀(SD) - 0.65 (Lasenby 1975) log₁₀AHOD = 1.52 + 0.4810g₁₀(TP) + 0.3810g₁₀(z̃) + 0.062 \tilde{z} (Barica and Mathias 1979) + 0.012 \bar{z} (Welch et al. 1976) ŧ AHOD $= \frac{3.8(1.15(Ch1 a)^{1.33}) \cdot \tilde{z} \cdot \tilde{z}}{1.15(Ch1 a)}$ $(9 + 1.15(Ch1 a)^{1.33}) \cdot (50 + \bar{z})$ 0.08 WODR = 0.14WODR = 6.

from the original expression where t was (t-4)).

Table 5: Winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR) (g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$), mean depth (\tilde{z}), total phosphorus (TP) (mg·m⁻²), and chlorophyll *a* (Chl *a*) (mg·m⁻²) from four sets of temperate zone lakes in Canada.

٠,

				SPRING	SUMMER	SUMMER
LAKE	WODR		ź	TP	ΤP	CH1 a
	· .		(m)	(mg•m ⁻ ²)	(mg•m-²)	(mg•m-²)
ALBERTA '		· ·				
Amisk N	0.554	:	10.7	502	222	61
Amisk S	0.848	2	19.4	`422	219	86
Baptiste S	0.775		12.6	320	202	64
Eden	0.331		6.9	<u>,</u> 223	177	27
Halfmoon	0.462		4.8	257	215	[:] 147
Hasse	0.372		3.7	199	174	26
Lessard	0.243		3.9	115	97	42
Nakamun	0.285	۶,	4.5	181	135	72
Peanut	0.407		5.5	260	211	37
Sauer	0.363		4.2	265	208	28
Nizard	0.533		6.2	235	192	64
CENTRAL ONTAI	RIO ² ³ ⁴					
Beech	0.282		9.8	81	73	10
Bob	0.273	•	18.0	100	79	14
Boshkung	0.393		23.4	88	<u></u> 69	. 14
ameron	0.217	•	7.1	83	88	* 14
ranberry	0.075	-	3.5	70	83	11
agle	0.169		7.9	92	76	22

ι

•

					·····
***************************************	·		SPRING	SUMMER	SUMMER
LAKE	WODR	ź	TP	TP	CH1 a
		(m)	(mg•m ⁻ ²)	(mg•m²²)	(mg•m-²)
Four Mile	0.282	9.3	124	98	16
Green	0.117	6.1	91	87	16
Haliburton	0.295	19.6	82	58	12
Halls	0.373	27.2	71	63	13
L.Boshkung	0.127	7.6	80	-59	19
Maple	0.242	11.6	72	79	11
Moose	0.295	16.6	77	73	13
Oblong	0.186	11,2	, 73	66	25
Pine	0.097	7.4	71	85	13
Welve Mile	0.286	11.5	76	68	16
NORTH-WEST ON	TARIO ⁵ • 7				
22	0.253	7.2			24
32	0.110	3.3	、		17
27	0.223	4.4		73	1 6
30	0.138	6.2			4 1
39	0.186	10.5	^ .	74	11
40	0.199	6.1		50	7
61	0.045	2.9		•	9
65	0.171	9.8			18
03	0.036	1.5		24	2
04	0.236	3.2		71	3
05	0.207	15.1		92	11

•.

47

.

۰.

(Table 5 cont'd)

١

LAKE	WODR	ź,			
	•		TP	TP	CHl a
		(m)	(mg•m-²)	(mg•m ⁻ ²)	(mg•m-²)
IANI TOBA • •					
85	0.260	1.8			184
82	0.270	2.1			90
55	0.290	1.8			37
18	0.220	1.6			64
87	0.260	2.5			53
21	0.240	1.6		τ_{2}	26
75	0.340	2.7	с -		55
00	0.320	2.8			54
19	0.330	3.4			49
ora	0.420	4.2	· .	- · .	57
Data on TP and	Chl a for	Nakamun	and Halfm	oon lakes	from
iley (1983); a	ll other TH	and Chl	<i>a</i> data fi	com Prepas	and
ickery (1984).	х.				-
Data on WODR f	rom Welch e	et al. (1	976).	:	2
Data on spring	TP and sum	mer Chl	a from Dil	lon and F	ligler
974).				17	
ata on summer	TP from Dr	. P.J. D	illon (unp	ublished)	•
ata on WODR fi	om Schindl	er (1971).	46m.	
ata on summer	TP from Re	id et al	. (1975) a	nd G. Lin	sey

Q

48

;

(Table 5 cont'd)

:

⁷Data on summer Chl *a* from Armstrong and Schindler (1971) and Reid et al. (1975)

'*Data on WODR from Barica and Mathias (1979).

'Data on summer Chl *a* from Barica et al. (1978) and Mathias and Barica (1980).

 γ_{i}

•

Table 6: Regression analysis of winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR) (g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$) vs four parameters: mean depth (\bar{z}), spring and summer total phosphorus (TPsp and TPsu) (mg·m⁻²), and summer chlorophyll *a* (Chl *a*) (mg·m⁻²) for the lakes in Table 5. Number of lakes used in each regression (*n*), correlation coefficient of each regression (*r*). Significant correlations are incicated by *(*P*<0.05), **(*P*<0.005), and ***(*P*<0.001).

PARAMETER	n		EQUATION	ŗ
ź	48	WODR = 0.214 +	0.00894 ž	0.34*
TPsp	-27	WODR = 0.124 +	0.00128 TPsp	0.81***
TPsu	33	WODR = 0.052 +	0.00227 TPsu	0.77***
Chl a	48	WODR = 0.212 +	0.0020 ¹ 1 Chla	0.44**
TPsp,ź	27	WODR = -0.001 +	0.00134 TPsp + 0.0119	z 0.89***
TPsu,z	33	WODR = -0.101 +	0.00247 TPsu + 0.0134	ž 0.90***
Chl <i>a</i> ,ź	48	WODR = 0.093 +	0.00257 Chl a + 0.0127	z 0.65***

	•		DISS	OLVED O	XYGEN			f.
				SITE	6			
····	DEPTH (m)	1	· 2	3	4	5	6	
	1 ·	3.22	5.95	2.75	4.82	5.15	4.16	
	2	2.24	3.91	2.25	3.89	4.16	3.50	
	. 3	1.97	3.73	2.04	3.59	3.85		
	4	1.89	3.37	1.24	3.21	3.35		
	5	1.30	3.25	1.11	2.86	3.22	· .	<u>_</u>
	6	0.89	2.00	0.90	2.75			
•	7	0.89	2.11	0.69				
	8	0.38	1.41	0.87				
	9.	0.22						•
	10	0.08					,	
٠,	11	0.05 .						

Table 7: Dissolved oxygen $(mg \cdot L^{-1})$ profiles at six sampling sites on Wizard Lake, March 7, 1983.

ч

51

,

.



¢





Canada: Figure 3: Relationship between winter oxygen depletion rates (WODR) (O); this study Hubbles Lake (\blacktriangle H) and Twin Lake (\blacklozenge T) are part of this study and mean depth $(ar{z})$ for three sets of temperate zone lakes in Welch et al. (1976) (U); Barica and Mathias (1979) but not included in the regression analysis. . •



F. References

Armstrong, F.A.J. and D.W. Schindler. 1971. Preliminary chemical characterization of waters in the Experimental Lakes Area, northwestern Ontario. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 28: 171-187

Barica, J., H. Kling, J. Gibson. 1978. Chlorophyll a, nutrients and dissolved oxygen in eight small lakes near Erickson, southwestern Manitoba, 1974-1977 data. Fish. Mar. Serv. Data rep. 94: 15 p.

Barica, J. and J. A. Mathias. 1979. Oxygen depletion and

winterkill risk in small prairie lakes under extended Tee cover. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 36: 980-986.

Barica, J., J. Gibson, and W. Howard. 1983. Feasibility of snow clearing to improve dissoloved oxygen conditions in a winterkill lake. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 40: 1526-1531.

Bergmann, M., and R.H. Peters. 1980. A simple reflectence method for the measurement of particulate pigment in lakewater and its applications to phosphorus-chlorophyll-seston relationships. Can. J.

Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37: 111-114.

Brewer, W.S., A.R. Abernathy, and M.J.B. Paynter. 1977. Oxygen consumption by freshwater sediments. Water Res. 11: 471-473.

Carpenter, J.H. 1965. The Chesapeake Bay Institute technique for the Winkler dissolved oxygen method. Limnol. Oceanogr. 10: 141-143. Charlton, M.N. 1980. Hypolimnion oxygen consumption in

lakes: Discussion of productivity and morphometry

effects. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37: 1531-1539.

Cole, G.A. 1983. Textbook of Limnology 3rd ed. C.V. Mosby

Company. 401 p.

Cornett, J. and F.H. Rigler. 1979. Hypolimnetic oxygen deficits: their prediction and interpretation. Science 205: 580-581.

Cornett, R.J. and F.H. Rigler. 1980. The areal hy olimnetic oxygen deficit: An empirical test of the model. Limnol. Oceanogr. 25: 672-679. ornett, J. 1981. Prediction and interpretation of rates of hypolimnetic oxygen depletion. Ph.D. Thesis. McGill University, Montreal,

Quebec. 270 p + appendices.

Dillon, P.J., and F.H. Rigler. 1974. The

phosphorus-chlorophyll relationship in lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 19: 767-773.

Dixon, W.J. 1981. BMDP statistical software. Univ. of

California Press, Berkeley. 725 p. 👘

Edberg, N. 1976. Oxygen consumption of sediment and water in certain selected lakes. Vatten 1: 2-12.

Environment Canada. 1953-1983. Annual Meteorological Summary. Edmonton International Airport.

Hamilton, A.L., W. Burton, and J.F. Flannagan. 1970". A

multiple corer for sampling profundal benthos. J. Fish.

Res. Board Can. 27: 1867-1869.

Hargrave, B.T. 1975. The importance of total and mixed layer

depth in the supply of organic materials to bottom C communities. Symp. Biol. Hung. 15: 157-165.

Jackson, M.B. and D.C. Lasenby. 1982. A method for

predicting winter oxygen profiles n ice-covered lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 39: 1267-1272.

Lasenby, D.C. 1975. Development of oxygen deficits in 1 southern Ontario lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 20: 993-999. Mathias, J.A. and J. Barica. 1980. Factors controlling oxygen depletion in ice-covered lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37: 185-194.

Prepas, E.E. and F.H. Rigler. 1982. Improvements in quantifying the phosphorus concentration in lake water. Can. J. Fish., Aquat. Sci. 39: 822-829.

Prepas, E.E. and D.O. Trew. 1983. Evaluation of the phosphorus-chlorophyll relationship for lakes off the Preca rian Shield in western Canada. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci⁷. 40: 27-35.

Prepas, E.E., and J. Vickery. 1984. The contribution of particulate phosphorus (>250 um) to the total phosphorus pool in lake water. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 41: 351-363.

Prepas, E.E. 1984. Some statistical methods for the design of experiments and analysis of samples. <u>In</u> Downing, J.A., and F.H. Rigler [eds.] a manual on methods for the assessment of secondary productivity in freshwaters.

Blackwell Scientific Publications. (in press)

total phosphorus in western Canadian lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. (under review).

Reid, R.A., D.W. Schindler, and R.V. Schmidt. 1975. Phytopla production in the experimental lakes area,

1969-1972. Fish. Mar. Serv. Tech. Rep. 560.

Riley, E.T. 1983. Internal phosphorus loading from the sediments and the phosphorus-chlorophyll model in shallow lakes. M.Sc. Thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta. 94 p.

Schindler, D.W. 1971. Light, temperature, and oxygen regimes of selected lakes in the Experimental Lakes Area, morthwestern Ontario. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 28: 157-169.

Snedecor, G.W., and W.G. Cochran. 1980. Statistical methods 7th ed. Iowa State Univ. 507 p.

Welch, H.E. 1974. Metabolic fates of arctic lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr.19: 65-73.

Welch, H.E., P.J. Dillon and A. Sreedharan. 1976. Factors affecting winter respiration in Ontario lakes. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 33: 1809-1815.

Wirth, T.L. 1970. Mixing and aeration systems in Wisconsin lakes. p.31-45. <u>In</u> Schenberger, E. [ed.] A symposium on the management of midwestern winterkill lakes. Am. Fish. Soc. Spec. Publ.
III. General Discussion and Conclusions

(1) One-site sampling

The development of empirical models to predict WODR are based on oxygen profiles obtained from a single site if the lake (Welch et al. 1976; Barica and Mathias 1979; Jackson and Lasenby 1982). I have shown that one-site sampling is not representative of whole-lake oxygen profiles in Albertan lakes. Possible causes of this horizontal heterogeneity may be differential oxygen depletion (Linsey 1981) or localized inputs of oxygen to the lake. Research into the extent, magnitude, and causes of this heterogeneity needs to be performed to obtain better estimates of whole-lake oxygen content under ice-cover.

 \mathcal{Q}

(2) Chlorophyll a under ice

In 12 of the study lakes the average Chl *a* level, during the period WODR were calculated, was 2.9 mg·m⁻³. After this period Chl *a* levels increased and a concommitant rise in DO levels was observed. In the 13th lake, Halfmoon Lake, there was an algal bloom shortly after freeze-up (32 mg·m⁻³ Chl *a*) and, when the algae died, the WODR for this lake increased from 0.373 to 0.448 g $O_2 \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$. Two possible explanations for the increased WODR in Halfmoon Lake after the algae died are: (1) oxygen may have been introduced to the lake via photosynthesis, during the bloom,

thereby slowing down the net consumption of oxygen, or (2) when the algae died-off, the consumption of oxygen may have increased since the algae were a fresh supply of organic material available for decomposition. Since primary production was not measured, it is not possible to determine the exact effect algae had on WODR in Halfmoon Lake. Thus, more research is meded to determine what effect(s), both direct and indirect, algae under ice-cover have on WODR.

(3) Nonlinear WODR

In this study, WODR were found to be higher at the beginning of the winter than at the end. Jackson and Lasenby (1982) also found that oxygen was depleted in a nonlinear fashion in lakes under ice-cover in Ontario. Transformed WODR (WODR') are correlated with estimates of open-water productivity, summer TP (TPsu) and Chl *a*, in the Albertan lakes:

> WODR' = 0.005 + 0.00047 TPsu WODR' = 0.062 + 0.00052 Chl a

Oxygen will be depleted in a nonlinear manner if any of the following conditions are met: (1) the material to be oxidized becomes more resistant to breakdown as the winter progresses (Hargrave 1971); (2) any oxygen depletion taking place in the water column decreases during the winter or; (3) the supply of oxygen to the site where oxidation is occurring decreases to the point where oxygen supply becomes limiting (Mathias and Barica 1980). Since 10 of the 11 study lakes that mixed to the bottom at fall overturn developed anoxic conditions at the bottom by late winter, the supply of oxygen to the bottom sediments could have influenced WODR. The influence which the nature of the material to be oxidized and the supply of oxygen to the sediments have in DO depletion needs further examination.

(4) Linear WODR in lakes

If the WODR in the central Albertan lakes are treated as linear for the 112-days past freeze-up, WODR can be predicted for these lakes if mean depth is known, an observation consistent with the findings of other investigators (Welch et al. 1976; Bariça and Mathias 1979): $WODR = 0.20 + 0.036 \bar{z}$

Data from other studies (Schindler 1971; Welch.et al. 1976; Barica and Mathias 1979) were combined with data from this study and a new model to predict WODR was constructed:

WODR = -0.101 + 0.00247 TPsu + 0.0134 z This equation incorporates both morphometry and estimates of lake productivity as predictors of WODR, demonstrating the interactions of both of these parameters on WODR. This new model is the first model which can predict WODR beyond small geographic regions with specific lake types. More data need to be collected for a wider range of lakes (e.g., shallow and unproductive) to improve the generality of WODR models. These data can also be used to determine if nonlinear models are generally better than linear models to predict WODR.

(5) Predicting oxygen profiles under ice

Existing models to predict oxygen profiles under ice-cover (Jackson and Lasenby, 1982) did not accurately predict DO levels in the Albertan lakes. The model developed for lakes on the Precambrian Shield consistently

overestimated DO levels while the model developed for lakes in limestone basins consistently underestimated DO levels in the Albertan lakes. More data on WODR are needed to improve on the existing models. Incorporating an estimate of productivity will likely improve upon the models.

(6) Summer AHOD models vs WODR models

Models developed to predict AHOD (Cornett and Rigler 1980; Charlton 1980) were able to accurately predict WODR in the Albertan lakes. Cornett and Rigler's AHOD models were also able to accurately predict WODR over a wide variety of lake types. These AHOD models incorporated estimates of both productivity and morphometry, illustrating that the magnitude of oxygen depletion in lakes is governed by both / morphometry and productivity.

A. References

Barica, J. and J.A. Mathias. 1979. Oxygen depletion and winterkill risk in small prairie lakes under extended ice cover. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 36: 980-986.

Charlton, M.N. 1980. Hypolimnion oxygen consumption in lakes: Discussion of productivity and morphometry effects. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37: 1531-1539.

Cornett, R.J. and F.H. Rigler. 1980. The areal hypolimnetic oxygen deficit: An empirical test of the model. Limnol. Oceanogr. 25: 672-679.

Hargrave, B.T. 1971. A comparison of sediment oxygen uptake, hypolimnetic oxygen depletion and primary production in Denmark. Verh. Internat. Verein Limnol. 18: 134-139. Jackson, M. B. and D.C. Lasenby. 1982. A method for

predicting winter oxygen profiles in ice-covered lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 39: 1267-1272.

Linsey, G.A. 1981. Spatial and temporal variation of factors influencing oxygen loss in a temperate lake. M.Sc. Thesis, Trent University, Peterborough, Ontario. 69. p. Mathias, J. A. and J. Barica. 1980. Factors controlling oxygen depletion in ice-covered lakes. Can. J. Fish.

Aquat. Sci. 37: 185-194.

Schindler, D.W. 1971. Light, temperature, and oxygen regimes of selected lakes in the Experimental Lakes Area, northwestern Ontario. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 28:157-169

Welch, H.E., P.J. Dillon and A. Sreedharan. 1976. Factors

65

ა

affecting winter respiration in Ontario lakes. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 33: 1809-1815.

.

.

d,



Table 1: Dissolved oxygen $(mg \cdot L^{-1})$, snow and ice thickness (cm) and depth sampled (m) for the study lakes during each visit in the fall and winter of 1982-83.

•

<u>Amisk North</u>

						•		
Date Snow Ice Depth	Nov 6	4 21	Dec 27 11 37	16 38	Feb 13 21 44	Mar 5 1 22 45	Mar 30 11 49	
$ \begin{array}{c} 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 6\\ 7\\ 8\\ 9\\ 10\\ 11\\ 12\\ 13\\ 14\\ 15\\ 16\\ 17\\ 18\\ 19\\ 20\\ 21\\ 22\\ 23\\ 24\\ 25\\ 26\\ 27\\ 28\\ 29\\ 30\\ \end{array} $		4.51 4.35 4.01	7.72 7.58 7.64 7.63 7.62 7.61 7.62 7.61 7.30 6.98 6.77 6.56 6.36 6.17 5.98 5.58 5.18 4.78 4.10 3.42 2.80 2.18 1.56 1.07 0.57 0.08 0.07 0.06 0.05 0.03	$\begin{array}{c} 6.45\\ 6.22\\ 6.01\\ 5.79\\ 5.79\\ 5.70\\ 7\\ 5.15\\ 4.73\\ 4.31\\ 3.89\\ 3.75\\ 3.60\\ 3.37\\ 3.14\\ 2.90\\ 2.65\\ 2.21\\ 1.77\\ 1.27\\ 0.77\\ 0.59\\ 0.40\\ 0.27\\ 0.13\\ 0.00\\ 0.$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.04\\ 5.80\\ 5.80\\ 5.46\\ 5.35\\ 5.25\\ 4.71\\ 4.47\\ 4.23\\ 3.52\\ 3.08\\ 2.64\\ 2.45\\ 2.25\\ 2.05\\ 1.82\\ 1.44\\ 1.05\\ 0.73\\ 0.40\\ 0.31\\ 0.22\\ 0.18\\ 0.13\\ 0.40\\ 0.31\\ 0.22\\ 0.18\\ 0.13\\ 0.07\\ 0.00\\$	5.89 5.50 5.11 4.87 4.2 3.63 3.20 3.10 2.90 2.60 1.97 1.33 0.58 0.36 0.19 0.02 0.00	5.36 4.97 4.46 3.95 3.58 3.12 2.75 2.83 1.99 1.15 0.53 0.42 0.30 0.15 0.14 0.00	

•

ĥ

<u>Amisk</u> South Date 11 Dec 4.Dec 27 Jan 27 Feb 13 Mar 5 Nov Mar 30 Snow 3 6 13 16 18 13 Ice 21 34 39 50 52 52 Depth 1 6.84 9.48 7.96 6.39 5.90 5.53 5.09 2 6.90 7.64 8.57 6.14 5.48 5.07 4.69 3 6.96 8.73 7.39 5.96 5.30 4.93 4.27 4 7.01 8.36 7:09 5.77 5.24 4.07 3.97 5 7.03 7.95 6.94 5.63 5.17 4.40 3.81 6 6.96 7.54 6.80 5.49 5.10 4.36 3.75 7 6.92 7.13 6.65 5.35 1.93 4.31 3.61 8 6.85 7.32 6.53 5.25 4.75 3.90 3.47 9 6.78 7.51 6.42 5.14 4.59 4.11 3.0.3 10 6.74 7.70 6.30 5.03 4.51 4.05 2.93 11 6.77 7.48 6.18 4.78 4.38 ٠ 3.88 2.73 12 6.80 7.26 6.06 4.53 4.25 3.34 2.63 13 6.83. 7.05 5.84 .7 4.39 ל3.6 2.40 3.16 14 6.87 6.83 5.62 4.24 3.08 3.33 2.21 6.91 15 6.61 5.49 4.02 2.93 3.13 2.19 16 6.80 6.39 5.37 3.80 2.77 2.93 1.96 17 6.69 6.27 5.24 3.67 2.57 2.70 1.83 18 6.59 6.16 5.03 3.54 2.37 2.77 1.57 19 6.50 6.04 4.81 3.49 2:08 2.46 1.34 20 6.41 5.99 4.60 3.44 1.79 2.04 1.38 2.1 6.38 5.93 4.45 3.28 1.61 1.93 1.22 22 6.37 5.88 4.30 3.11 1.09 1.36 1.17 23 6.35 5.84 4.06 2.91 0.99 1.30 1.08 24 6.33 5.80 3.82 2.70 1.04 1.24 0.98 25 6.32 5.70 3.59 1.80 0.86 1.13 0.74 26 6.31 5.60 3.35 0.89 0.61 1.01 0.48 27 6.30 5.48 3.29 1.07 0.56 0.60 0.50 28 6.29 5.35 3.22 1.25 0.47 0.18 0.20 29 6.28 5.31 3.15 0.89 0.38 0.10 0.22 30 6.27 5.26 3.23 0.52 0.21 0.02 0.24 31 6.25 5.10 3.30 0.28 0.03 0.00 0.00 32 6.24 4.93 3.38 0.03 0.05 0.00 0.00 33 6.22 4.72 3.01 0.03 0.05 0.00 0.00 34 6.20 4.50 2.63 0.03 0.05 0.00 0.00 35 6.19 4.29 2.16 0.03 0.04 0.00 0.00 36 5.78 4.07 1.69 0.02 0.02 0.00 0.00 0 37 5.37 4.00 1.75 0.02 0.02 0.00 0.00 38 4.92 3.92 1.81 0.02 0.02 0.00 0.00 39 4.47 3.83 1.59 0.03 0.00 0.00 0.00 40 4.03 3.73 1.36 0.04 0.00 0.00 0.00

•

.

Amis	k	Sou	th	С	on	t	'd	

				,	e ¹		•
41	3.47	3.43	1.42	0.05	0.00	0.00	0 00
42	2.91	3.13	1.47	0.06			0.00
43	2.35	3.02			0.00	0.00	0.00
44			1.49	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	2.07	2.91	1.51	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
45	1.80	2.77	1.15	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
46	1.64	2.64	0.79	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
47	₽ 1.48	2.64	0.43	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
48	1.32	2.63	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
49	1.17	2.55	0.22	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
50	1.02	2.47	0.27	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
51	0.92	2.22	0.31	0.00	0.00		
52	0.77	2.12	0.00	0.00	and the second	0.00	0.00
53	0.62	2.02			0.00	0.00	0.00
54			0.00	0.00	0.00.	0.00	0.00
	.0. ± /	1.85	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
55	0.34	1.67	0.00	0.00	.0.00	0.00	0.00
56	0.21	1.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	/0.00	0.00
5.7	0.09	1.32	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
58	0.04	0.09	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
59	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
60	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

.

.

69

ų

74

•

<u>Baptiste</u> Lake

.

- :

//	Date Snow Ice	Nov 6 	Dec -4 8 11	Dec 27 6 37	Jan 27 10 ∘53	Feb 13 15 61	Mar 5 17 63	Mar 30 14 66		
	Depth 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24		10.99 10.64 10.49 9.68 9.18 8.68 8.34 8.00 7.89 7.78	10.11 9.90 9.51 9.09 8.70 8.30 7.91	7.98 7.89 7.42 7.19 6.95 6.86 6.77 6.57 6.57 6.37 5.66 4.94 4.25 3.55 2.56 1.56 1.17 0.77 0.53 0.29 0.18 0.05 0.04	6.86 6.46 6.10 5.67 5.23 4.83 4.42 3.87 3.32 2.39 1.46 1.17 14.07 0.67 0.26 0.16 0.05 0.05 0.05	6:12 5.97 5.71 5.27 4.83 4.64 3.68 3.45 3.09 2.55 1.12 9.69 0.26 0.21 0.24 0.26 0.21 0.24 0.26 0.13 0.00	6.43 5.65 4.89 4.50 4.10	Υ σ	σ
	25	6.78	1.98	0.05	0.*00	.0.00	0.00	0.00	•	•• ,

 $2\gamma_{p}$

`}

. ` 70

3

128-14

ទីរ៍។

..

ŀ

.

-

<u>Lake</u> Eden

. •

	-		12 5 1
	24 Dec 10 5 3 16 34	Dec 20 3 41	Jan. 18
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	56 8.97 33 8.75 20 8.51 93 8.47 55 7.71 89 6.33 85 4.95 90 5.36 92 3.46 36 2.18	9.49 8.86 8.68 8.45 8.25 7.98 7.28 5.75 4.21 2.84 92 65	8.70 8.02 7.80 7.72 7.67 6.94 5.55 2.18 0.46 0.65 0.54 0.37
14 7.48 2.	47. 0.32 38. 0.30	.41 0.32 0.15 Mar 14	0.17 0.00 0.00 Mar 27

r, i

Ť,

71.

140 A

1

a.

, Duce alloy 4	1 E E D 1 D	red zo	Mar 14	Mar 2/
Snow 9'	8	0 🐄	0	Q 4
Ice 50	54	57	60	63,
Depth - Section		e e e		
1 7.79	7.38	7.29	7.54	9.21
2 7.27	¥ 6.88	6.75	6.74	7,74
3 7.07	6.47	6.48	6.68	7.05
- <u>4</u> 6.91	6,45	6.15	6.23	6.27
5 6.80	> 6.05	5.65	5.58	4.10
6 5,91	4.56	3.29	3.38	3.71
7 4.98	3.90	2.82	3,19	2.37
8 2.76	2.17 •	0.81	0.51	1.56
9 1.74	1,29	0.52	0.86	0.24
10 , 0, 54	0.59	0.25	0.15	0.22
11 0.36	0.14	0.12	0.07	0.24
12 0.16	0.02	0.03	0.00	0.00
13 0.04	0.00	0.00.	0.00	0.00
14 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
15 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
		Υ.	11 A. 11	

0

Þ

. A**:** 1

Halfmoon <u>Jake</u>

•	NA.	Star De la cara	R (· · · · ·						
	Parue	Do't 29	Nov 18	Dec 2	Dec 14	Dec_24	Jan 9	Jan 25	Mar 10		
1		En	2.	6 ·	- 4	5.	•4	5	5		
	Ice		18	21	35	39	48	58	ຣັບັ	. ů	
	Dept							•	00		
	1	5.92	7.66	7.14	6.55	4.81	2.01	0.03	1 72		
	2	5.82	7.57	6.59	5.47	3.91	1.55	0.00	0.18	الاستاد المتحرب	
4	3.	5.82	7.52	6, 38	5.24	3.64	1.31	0.00	0.03	a strange	
	4	5.82	6.76	5.55	4.80	3.31	0.91	0.01	0.00		
	5	5.81	6.17	4.81	3,.60	2:92	.0.70	0.01	0.00	й	
	6	,5.69	5.53	2.38	5.13	1.45		0.00	0.00		
	7 🥂	5.77	3.11	1.15	2 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	0.87		0.00	0.00		
	8	5.63	2.23	0.43	0 29	0-74		0.02	0.00	85	
4	i u	d ve		,	Ser	3		0.02	0.00	N	
	•	So.		•		o Depart	<i>.</i> ,4	•	· ·		

1

÷.

ોપ

72

Ĺn

Wizard Lake

<u>.</u>

	ļ.		· .	
Wizard Lake		·	•	
				u G
Date Nov 1 Nov 26 Dec 15 Jan 15 Jan 31	jeb 17 1	Mar 7 M	ar 22	τ·
Snow 5 6 3 3	7	1.3	13	
Ice 17 35 43 55	52	64	63	
Depth				•
1 10.39 10.53 9.25 6.44 4.57	3.25	3.22	5.73	
2 10.41 10.43 8.96 5.97 4.18	2.65	2.24.	2.43	
3 10.37 9.82 8.52 5.79 3.99	2.31	1.97	1.77	
4 10.37 9.19 8.47 5.56 3.82	2.27	1.89	1.52	
5 10.39 9.19 8.03 5.40 2.89	2.02	1.30	1.01	Ŷ
6 10.39 8:53 7.54 5.29 1.39	1.64	0.89	0.815	,
7 10.33 8.24 6.82 3.02 1.56	2.25	0.89	0.40	N .
8 10.38 7.46 5.31 2.55 0.68		سر 38 . 0	0.33	· · ·
	0.88	0.22	0.20	
	0.53	0.08	0.10	
11 10.26 6.15 1.18 0.30 0.03	0.15	0.05 i).12	د ا

				i.		
			.			73
(Table 1 cont'd)	and the second sec	•	<i>.</i> .		- 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100	
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	······································		PAR P
n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n				•	`	
Hasse Lake		·		· .	-	· ·

()

. .

.,

Date Snow Ice Depth	Oct 30	Nov 20 . 6 17	Dec 7 5 23	Dec 18	Jan [©] 21 4 45	
1 2 3	11.26 11.37 11.45	12.40 11,84 12.32	11.80 11.64 11.46	10.36	6.09 5.90	<u> </u>
4	11.23	12-20 12-20	1.0.34	9.10 8.32 8.02	5.73 5.38 4.49	à
6 / 7	11,33 11.38 11.29	7 52	8.13 7.65 4.94	6.38 4.75	3.59	· · ·
9		6,76	3.07	1.43 0.15	2.80	•
D =+=		_ V		· · · · ·		•

	÷		•	4 A	8				·	• •	•		1.1
	Date	F	'eb 6	F	eb 16	۰, ^۲	Mar :	2'	Mar 🖧	4 1	Mar 27	1	
k. 1.	Snow	:	* 9 *.		9		19				Q 2		
~	Ice		49 🦸	ľ.	53	م منهند به	57	18 - B	رس ا ا 56		61	2	• •
	Depth	144		· · · ·						- -	. 01	` .	•
	· •	u a	4.82		4.09		3.66		4.26		6.16		
	2.5	65	4.46		3.56		2, 96	-	2.40		3:42		2
	3		4.25		3.18		1.86	· .	1.17	- · .	0.000		
	4	÷Ľ,	3.73	· • ·	2.82	ar .	1.29	ٽ. ب	0.66		0523	Тра	3
	5	v	3.52	•	2.10	сэ.	1.40	· · ·	0.35	. در	0.32	,	• • • • •
	6		2.97		1.90	-	0.67		0.16	1	0.06		7
•	7	• • • •	1.56		1		0.54	•	0.00		0.00		
,	8	R.	0.53	. (0.56		0.00	مد ج	0.00		0.0.0		
×	9		0.00	C	200.C		0.00		0.00		0.00	. •	Da
	STA	```	×.,		- 1					•			-0

ç,

 (g_{i})

	(Table	1 cont	*a) ^•		· · · · ·	•	•			- d	į
'a	Hubbles	Lake		<u>_</u>		ري بوليلو -	3)•	······································	, , ,		•
2 	Date Snow Ice	Oct 3	1 NOV	2.1 4 3	Dec 10 2 22	Dec 20 2 35	Jan 18 2 51	۰. ۱		i. 	, .
	Depth 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28	7.87 7.78 7.75 7.58 7.50 7.43 7.42 7.23 7.08 7.31 7.26 6.66 6.93 4.38 0.00	7. 6. 6. 6. 6. 6. 6. 6. 6. 6. 6. 6. 6. 6.	94 91 92 92 93 93 6 34 77 58 37 58 37 58 51 39 6 6 1 1 1 7 90 00 00 00	6.76 6.73 6.74 6.78 6.72 6.70 6.66 6.49 6.32 16 5.97 5.78 5.60 5.64 5.45 5.49 5.45 5.49 5.41 5.28 4.38 3.19 2.73 1.88 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	6.35 6.33 6.34 6.30 6.35 6.26 6.21 6.11 6.15 6.03 5.66 5.35 5.10 5.07 4.62 4.19 4.07 3.66 3.35 2.97 2.38 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	5.15 5.13 5.15 5.10 4.98 4.93 4.91 4.88 4.64 4.36 4.18 3.64 3.64 3.64 3.64 3.64 3.64 3.64 3.64				
	29 30	0.00	0.0	0	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00		•	, *	

i .

74

¢.J

Hubbles lake cont'd

				,			
	Date Snow	Feb 4 7	Feb 15 8	Mar 2 11	Mar 16 9	Mar 27	
مى	Ice	54	58	62	65	8	`
	Depth		20	02	00	66	
7	1	4.35	3.91	3.34	3.43	3.5.0	
	2	4.25	3.72	2.88	2.76	3.07	,
	. 3 ~	4.25	3.58	2.83	2.60	2.68	
	4	4.19	* 3.55	2.77	2.52	2.68	·
	5	4.17	3.50	2.79	2.47	2.08	°.
	. 6	4.08	3.49	2.7.8	2.02	1.05	
	7 ి	4.07	3.34	2.67	2.02	0.84	
. •	8	3.88	3.09	2.43 .	2.03	0.40	·
	9	3.75	2.85	2.04	1.38	0.47	
	1 [.] 0 1.1	3.68	2.62	2.05	1.57	0.86 -	
	12	2.98	2.28	145.51	1.03	0.44	
	13	2.69 2.67	1.87	1.29	0.73	0.46	
	14	2 2 2 8	1.93	0.86	0.59	0.18	There
	15	2.01	1.25	0.25	0.46	0.21	
	16	1.85	0.56次	0.10	0.38	0.25	
· -	17 🥒	1.66	0.53	0.05	0.13	. 0.15	
•	18	1.32	0.28	0.00	0.00	0.15**	
	19	G.48	0.23	0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	
	20	0.27	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
	21	0.00	0.00 .	0.00	0.00	0.00	•
	22 .	0.00	0,00	0.00	0.00	0.00/	*
	23	0.00	00,00	0,00	0.00	40,00	`
	24	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
	25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	y .0 . 00	· · · · · ·
-	26	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00 .00	ົ່0.00	J.
	27 28	0.00	0.00	▶0.00	0.00	0.00	-2
	29	0.00	0,00	0.00	0.00 ,	0.00	
	30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
. •		00.00	0.00	0.00	.0.00	0.00	

75

*

٤.

0.41

0.19

0.08

0.42

0.11

.0.00

0.37

0.10

0.00

0.07

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

6

7

8

Lessard Lake Oct 20 Date Dec 11 Dec 22 Nov 24 Jan'22 Jan 10 Snow 4 5 8 4 4 Ice 25 34 4 39 48 55 Depth 1 7.83 11.46 10.25 9.53 8.11 7.26 Č. 2 7.79 11.33 9.95 9.15 7.90 7.10 3. 8.01 11.18 7.62 9.91. 6.70 ÷. 4 7.78 8.84 🐁 👘 5.88 5.69 5.94 5.00 5 7.71 6.76 4.57 5 5.29 4.61 2.56 6 7.70 5.96 3..36 4.11 1.35 3.19 . الأن 6.7 Feb 23 Date Feb 10 Mar 14 Feb 2 Mar²⁷ Snòw 7 10 12 13 1 Ice 56 59 62 65 · ... 66 Depth ...4 1. 6.67 6.46 5.71 5.18 5.12 2₀ 6.4 5.79 4.95 5.22 3.70 3 6. 5.61 4.15 1.83 1.64 4 4.880 3.72 2.47 1.27 1.18 5 4.44 2.82 s 🖓 🐴 🖯 0.99 0:7.9 . 3 6 1.66 1.74 1.69 1.13 0.28 Nakamun Lake Date Nov 2 Nov 23 Dec 1 Dec 11 Dec 22 Dec 29 Jan 10 Snow • 4. - 3 4 6 . 4 . 4 Ice 18 24 30 36 46 53 Depth 7.13 8.52 8.30 7.58 6.70 5.61 4, 59 2 7.324 8.30 7.99 7.03 5.08 4.69 3.88 3 7.30 8.08 7.56 5.95 4.69 3.44 2.60 4 ;: 7.26 7.15 3.32 4.40 1.59 1.41 з, 1.05 1.62 5 7.23 4.73 2.76 1.17 0.97 0.41 6 7.21 0.73 0.96 0.95 0.95/ 0.65 0.25 7 7.22 0.78 0.42 0.43 0.50 0.17 0.22 8 7.07 0.34 0.24 0.04 0.20 ل 0.17 0.09 Jan/22 Feb 2 Date Feb 10 Feb 23 Mar 14 Mar 27 Snow ×6 6 e 63 9 · -6 6 7. 53 Ice 62 63 68 71 73 Dépth ` . 1 3.44 2.06 1.74 1.27 0.73 0.85 2 2.95 1.81 1.37 0.87 0.13 0.17 Ś 2.08 1.61 1.31 0.72 0.02 0.00 4 0.58 1.24 1.01 0.49 0.00 0.00 5 0.051 0.90 0.56 0.30 0.00 0.00

76

ð

<u>(Tabl</u>	e 1 cont'd)			·	•	Ģ
Peanu	t Lake	<u> </u>		<u>, 6</u>	<u> </u>		, , , ,
Date	 Oct. 21	Nov 19	Dec 👷	Dec 18	Jan 17	•	
Snow Ice		8	6 	6 30	5 39	.	•
Depth 1	7.96	8.84	7 72	6.77			
2	7.94 7.94	8.91	7.67	6.65	4.71	•	
	7.94	^9`.04	7.43	6.63 6.44	4.59 4.54		
6	7.92	8.90	7.34 6.93	* 6.12 6.51	4.40 3.22	4	
8	• 7.88 7.84	7.93	6.14 4.79	* 4.8 <u>1</u> * 2,44	2.66 1.53	8	ع
9 10	7.86 7.88	6.46 5.53	3.80	1.72	1.34	÷	•
	7.68 7.38	5.18 4.50	1.65 1.30	1.64	0.34 0.12		2
13	0.00	3.53 ·	0.70 0.41	0.44 0.00	0.02		\$ \$
- -	يې د د ۲۰۰۰ و. هانې کې کې د د د د د د د د د د د د د د				0.00		•
Date Snow	Feb 2 F	eb 10	Feb 23 1 9	Mar 14 8	Mar 27		
Ice Depth	45	48	55	53	7 60		
1 0	3 ⁴ .51 ⁹ 3.32	2.92	2.30		2.53		· .
3	3.17	2.71	₹.96 1.89	1.87	1.84 1.23 0.90 0.44		¥.
5	3.05	2.63 2.56 2.16	1.72 0.74	1.09 0.55	0.90 0.44		• •
6 7	2.02	1.43 1.19	0.86 0.53	0.68 0.23	0.13 0.09		
8 9	0.86 0.53	0.27 [°] 0.26	0.33 0.15	0.19 0.05	0.22 0.06	•	•
10 11	0.32 0.13	0.12 0.06	0.05 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00		
12 13	0.10	0.03 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00		
14	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00		* -

Ż

C)

۰ ژ

<u>_</u>____

;

,7

22

<u>s</u>	auer	Lake							•					• • -
S I	ate now ce epth	Oct 	29	Nov 2 8 12	0 D	ec 1 6 19		Dec 1 6 35	7		21 5 0			,, .
-	1 2 3 4 5 5	8.6 8.5 8.4 8.4 8.4	1 3 9 9 9 9	9.46 9.11 8.99 8.77 8.41 8.35	``````````````````````````````````````	8.69 8.47 3.18 7.87 7.49 7.00		7.07 6.86 6.60 6.22 5.83 5.41		3. 3. 2. 2.	93 52 22 84 67 79			
1 (1 1 1	9) : 1 : 2	8.5 8.4 8.4 8.4 8.4	9 6 9	8.24 7.71 7.59 6.83 6.13	5 5 2	5.46 5.88 5.17 4.00 2.97		4.94 5.02 3.13 1.83 0.51 0.41		0. 0. 0. 0.	89 48 47 27	49.27 H	•	
		8.5 8.5 Feb 6 10		2.46 1.93 Feb 10 9	ں م ب	r 2		0.28 0.00	5	0.0.	00		34 5 7 3 3	
I c De	e pth	48		47		14 48		13 56	•		· · ·			· · · ·
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	•	2.51 1.95 1.63 1.35 0.86 0.42 0.30 0.24	, , , , ,	1.10 0.66 0.44 0.18 0.10 0.08 0.04 0.00	0 0 0 0 5.0	.20 .05 .00 .00 .00 .00 .00		4.26 0.33 0.19 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00		•			-	
10 11 12 13 14	τ	0.19 Q.06 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	. (0.00 0.00 0.00	0 0 0 0	.00 .00 .00 .00 .00 .00		0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00			-	F	•	
· · ·	,						а.		•		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•	-

مي

•

No Sec

S.

78

• •

:Š

2.

Twin Lake

T	win	Lake		6			•			
		Nov 1	Nov 17	Dec 15	Jan 15	Jan 31	Feb 17	Mar 9	Mar 22	
	now ce		1	3 \	7	13	11	18	11	Star and
	se epth		10	37	47	47	្ ញ 5 1	50	50	
	1	9.36	8.46	7.96	7.62	7.37	7.21	2001	8.11	
	2	9.32	8.35	7.75	7.53	7.23	7.05	6.83	6.98	
	3	9.31		7.67	7.46	7.26	6.97	6.80	6.63	۰.
	1	9.03	8.35	7.75	7.42	7.25	6.94 -	6.75	6.53	
. 5	5	9.22 9.26	8.31	7.73 7.70	7.38	7.03	6,95	6.77	6.46	Q
7		9.18	8.31	7.72	7.30	7.12 7.09	6.89 6.81	• 6.65	6.45	÷
8		9.21	8.31	7.65	7.29	6.96	6.78	6.63 6.54	6.35 6.25	• .
5		9.22	8.1 <i>4</i>	7.50	7.23	6.89		6.53	6.07	
10		9.31	,7.96	7.52	7.20	6.88	6.65	6.27	6.00	
11 12		9.02 9.02	7.81 7.66	7.40	7.02	6.72	6.57	6.19	5.94	·
13		3.60	7.54	7.38 7.00	6.93 6.80	649 6.31	6.51 6.30	6.14	5.92	
14	•	2.38	7.42	6.97	6.55	5.3⊺ ∰⊊.15 ⊡	6.30	6.00 5.81	5.67 5.63	
15		2.36	7.38	6.88	6.17	5.76	5.64	5.68	5.19	
16		1.18	7.34	6.75	6.11	5.47	5.62	5.39	5.13	
17 18		0.30 0.16	6.95 6.55	6.66 6.47	5.73	5.57	5.70	5.31	4.85	
19		0.11	6.20	6.26	5.58 5.70	5.60 5.46	5.43 5.23 /	5.29	4.76	
. 20		0.00	5.84	6.25	5.37	5.00	5.25	5.23	4.54 4.08	•
21	•	0.00	3.83	5.01	4.45	4.01	4.67	2.12	4.09	
22		0.00	2.19	3.94	3.89	, 2., 73	3.37	2.52	3.30	
23 24	•	0.00	0.72	0,95 0.68	0.99	1.31	2.25	1.45	2.59	· ·
25		0.00	0.28	0.34	0.47 0.15	0.54	0.31 .0.0	0.37	1.29	
26		0.00	0.56 .	0.15	0.20	0.19	0.23	0.02	0.73	· .
27		0.00	0.08	0.15	0.14	0.94	0.09	0.00	0.00	
28 29		0.00	0.03	0.07	0.07	0.04	0.09	0.00	0.00	
30		0.00 -	0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
31			0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	
32		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
33			0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.0.0	. 💨
34 35		0.00	0.00	0.00,-	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	`¶`
<u> </u>		0.00	0.00	σ.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1
	•	1.0						•		• • •
				· • ·					i.	•

.

5.6

Table 2: Dissolved oxygen $(mg \cdot L^{-1})$ profiles for the five lakes sampled to determine if one-site-sampling is representative of the whole lake.

Lake Eden, Feb 26, 1983

 δ_{0}

Depth	1	2	۲.	SITE	5	c	7	C
1 2 3 3	7.29 6.75 6.48	6.97 6.62 6.15	6.74 6.57 6.46	5.30 5.24 5.33	6.13 5.83 5.71	6.97 6.91 6.82	5.20 5.08 3.03	
5 6 7	6.15 5.65 3.29 2.82	5.68 4.89 5.02 4.29	6.37 5.89 4.94 3.51	5.04 4.71 4.52	5.48	6.50		
8 9 10	0.81 0.52 0.25	1.68 0.72			у. -та	-		
11 ` 12 13	0.12 0.03 0.00	1034 2034	100 A			• •	X	•
14 15	0.00			· · ·			≈નું	

Halfmoon Lake, Jan 9, 1983

					S	ITE			1.1	
Į	Depti	<u>h</u>	1 .	2	3	4	5	• 6	•	
], 2 2		2.01	2.07		2.43		0.95		¥
4 4	, . 	,	0.91	1.39 1.37 1.13	1/66 1158 1.18	1.53 .0.74 0.52	1.52			J
. 6 7		•	0.17 0.29	0.60	0.701	0.64	•	<u>.</u>		•
~ 8		,	.0.10	0.04	~					·

• "	-0.73				
Hasse	Lake,	Feb	6,	1983	

r.

......

				S	ITE	<i>.</i>	:	4	-	-			
Depth		1	2	3~	4	5`	6	7.			•		. 5
1 2 3	•.	4.82	4.62	4.92 4.51	4.56	0.98	0.0	0 4.24		· .	•	-	•
5 4 5		4.24 3.73 3.52	3.99 3.56 3.16	3.62 1.72 2.42	3.78					2 1 - 2			
6 7		2.97 1.56	3.01	2.37	•	,		s).	. 6		7		
,9 ,9	5	0.53 0.00	•	>	, • ,					• I -			L

*

	. *			<u>,</u> ,,		•	6	81
· .	بر ۹۹					•		
<u>(Table</u>	2 cont'	d)		B -				
<u>.</u>			,	<u> </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Lessar	d Lake,	Jan 22,	1983	• 1	,		<u> </u>	
	•	· · · · · ·	SITE		<u>.</u> ·	· ·		
Depth 1	1 7.26	2. 8.06 7	3 4	5	6			•
2	7.10	7.53 7	.63 7. .60 7.4	12. 8.06	9.61	7.		
3 <u>)</u> 4	6.70 5.00		.83 6.8	36	÷	· · ·		-
5	4.61	2.84	• ∠ /					
6	3.19	ູປ ອ -		. S				
••••					***	•		4
Wizard	Lake, Ma	irch 7;	1983	na se de la composition de la	an a			5)* .
Depth	1		SITE	in (Harlanda) Nasalari Nasalari	_	·	, 1	•
1 1	3.22		<u> </u>	2.45.15	4,16	<u></u> 		i. Geo
2	• 2.24 • 1.97	3.91 2.	25 3.8		3.50.	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	, ⁷	•
2 3 4 5 6	1.89 ^c 1.30	3.37 1.	.04 3.5 24 3.2	1 3.35			. G.	2
5	1.30 0.89		11 2.8 90 2.7			·	•	
7	0.89	2.11 0.	69	5	•	اق بيا		•
8 * *	0.38	1.41 0.	87					· •
9 10	0.08	-	`1 'a	a			. .	-
<u>11[°] </u>	0.05	·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			، · 	به و 	
,	a,	•		2		4		10 b

Table 3: Chlorophyll a ([Chla]) (mg·m⁻³) in the study lakes during the winter of 1982-83.

	······		······					لا		
		,								, o
		North)		•			•			
			De	c 27		an 27		Ĩ,	C Start Start	
	<u>Deptn</u> 1	13:44	Depth1	[Chla] 2.01		h [Chla]	· · · · ·		
	2	6.25	2	1.92	1-4 7-1:	<u>1.18</u> 2 0.46			•	~7
	3	4.03	` 3	1.49	14-	18 0.47		ца "		J 1
•	4	2.77	. 4	1.10	20-:	26 0.61	•.	•	•	
		ວ 13		r 5	Ma	ar,30	. 2	a	• •	•
	<u>Depth</u> 1-3	[Chla]	Depth	[Chla]	Depf1	l [Chla]				
	5-8	0.65	1-5 7-9	0.54 0.24	1-4		• •	• •		· · ·
	9-13	0.31	10-12	2 0.22		0.24 3 0.21			· · ·	
	15-19	0.33	14-18	3 0.35	N	الم س ية . الر	ې بې	u.	•	
	6)			Э	495. •	S.	•	*:	•	
	<u>Amisk</u>	South		•	•		•			
,	Dec Depth		Dec	27 [Chla]	Ja	n 27 🌣		•	н. I	*
	1	5.74	1	1 00	<u></u>	[Chla] 0.82	3			
	2	3.82	2	2.60	7-12	0.26		· .		
	3 :	3.09 2.50	2 3 4	1.47	14-18 20-36	0.30			1	
	, · ·		•	·	20 000	0.34		•		19
e.	Feb Depth	13 [Chla]	Mar			r 30	¢	s -		
	1-3	0.72	Depth 1-3	0.56		[Chla] 0.95	· -	•	•	
		0.23	0.0	0.20	4-6	0.30	•		,	10
	9-12 14-18		9-11 12-14	0.20		0.25	•••••		l i	25
		· · · · ·	12 914	0.29	11-13	0.1,	•		·	
÷	Bantict	- Couth								÷.
~	Dec 4	<u>e</u> South	Dec	27	Jan	27	•		4	•
	Depth [Chla]	Depth	[Chla]	_Depth'	[Chla]	<u>د</u> ي .			
	1 2	7.27	1 2	2.52	1-3 4-6				•	
	3	2.54	3	2.32	8-10	1.20		· · ·		
.,	4	2.42	4	2.12	12-14	1.01				· · · ·
	Feb 1	3	Mar 5	5	Mar	30	1.	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e		i ye en
•	Depto [Depth [Chla]	Depth	[Chla]		•		·
•		0,98 0.53	1-5 6-8	0.72	1−3 3,5−7	1.24	م			•
	11-13	0.57	9-11	0.55	8-10	0.99 0.78				•
	15-19	0.32	13-16	0.38	11-13	0.64				•
	,		•	· •	•					•

, j2

١

82

Ł

<u>Lake</u> Eden

,

J	Nov Depth	24 [Chla]			Dec Depth	20
	1 00	7.51	1	8.53	· 1	<u>3.81</u>
	2 3	4.64 2.56		2.34 2.69	2	2.45
	€ ,4 ●	3.08	4	1.69	4	1:20
		18		4		15 *
, ``		[Chla] 1.13	<u>Depth</u> 1-3	[Chla] 1.01	Depth 1-3	
•		0.65	4-6 7-9	0.52	4-6	δ.56
•			10-12			
				*		

and the		26	Mar	14,		Mar	27	
		[Chla]	Depth	[Chla]		Depth	[Chla]	۰.
	1-3	3.09	1-3	5.56		1-3		
	4-6	1.57	4-6	3.74		74-6	6.95	
	V-9 🖧	2.00	7-9	4.83	51	7-9	8.17	
	10512	8.44	10-12	10.46	۰.			

Ъ,

Halfmoon Lake

. . .

Nøv 18 +	Dec 2	Dec	14	Dec	24	69 °
	epth [Chla]	Depth	[Chla]	Depth	[Chla]	- 14
1 9.42	1 15.46		31.57	1	3.37*	
3 7.80	2 5.34 3 5.91	2	8.00	¢2	2.21	
4 6.79		3 4	4.14%	3	1.79	
	- 0.00		±. JØ	4.	1.50	:
Jan 9	Jan 25	Mar	ch 10			•
4 6.79	4 5.38	4 Mar	4.56	3 4	1.58	* 1.

A

Depth [Chla]	. Depth	[Chla]	Depth	[Chla]
1-2 2.52	1-2	2.07		16.41
3-4-1.31	3-4	0.90	4-6	3.07
5-6 2,19	5-6	1.19	5 2 7	2.30

83 1

G,

(Tabl	e 3 con	с на).		a. 1				17
<u>(IdD1)</u>			·····	•			····· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		· · · ·			····	·		<u> </u>
÷ .		n • ·				•		
Hasse	Lake	. / .	1. A.	1. 1 . 1		· · · · ·	ý.	
Nov	20	Dee		· · · ·	4			
	[Chla]	Dec	[Chla]		c 18 h [Chla]			
1	14.72	<u>, Depti</u>	6.56		$\frac{n}{3.54}$	'	,	•
2	12.81	2	7.49	2	3.84	1	•	
3 ,	13.76	3	7.88	- 3	3.03	•		
4	13.47	4	6.27	4	3.25			~
		·			•		i i	ť.
		Feb		Fe			· · ·	
Depth 1-2 #	1,41	<u>ueptn</u> 1 3	[Chla] 3.30	Dept	h [Chla]	Ø		÷ .
	0.67	∴ \ 4 ~6 \	0.58	4-6		Ē.		
5-6	0.48	7-8	0.90	, . .	₩ 0.5 2	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		i i i i
7-8	0.67	3	ં સુરા	6			•	, , ,
01				· · · · ·		and a second	5.0	
Marc		Mar	ch, 14		ch 27	у.	•	, <u>`</u>
<u>Depth</u> 1-3	2.65	<u></u>	[Chla]		<u>[Chla]</u>			
4-6	0.73	୍ୟ−6	4.10 1.30	1−3 4−6				÷.
			1.50		3.56			no regio
		ан ^с - с		·		17 0.		
Hubble	<u>s Lake</u>			۵. <u>۲</u>	· · · ·	8.	۶ ა.	5
Nov	о 1		10					. n
Depth			10 [Chla]	Dec		Jan	18 1	
1	9.50	1	9.58	1-2	[Chla] 8.77	Depth 1-3	[Chla] 4.48	<u> </u>
2	9.62	2	9.48	3-4		4-6	4.40	
3	9.34	3.4	9.13	\$ 5-6	7.48	7-9	3.48	
4	9.34	4	9.13	7,-8		10-12	2.18	· /
Feb 4	1 Ť	i igi igi mariata	4 H					Ku
Depth [Chlal-	Feb ADepth	15 [Chin]	Mar		Mar		,
<u>- 1-3</u>	4.19	<u>-Deptin</u> 1-3	4.57	<u>Deptn</u> 1-3:	[Chla] 3.34	Depth		
	3.18	4-6	3.40	4-6	3.61	1-3 4-6	3.23 4.02	
` <i>7</i> −9	2.81	7-9	2.50	7-9	2.63	7-9	2.37	
10-12	1.47	10-12	1.40	> 10-12		10-12	1-1-1-7	53

.

Lessard `Lake

					· · · ·			•
	24	Dec	11		Dec	22 :	Jan	10
Depth	[Chla]	Depth	[Chla]	r	Depth	[Chla]	•	[Chla]
. 1	8.68 -	1	2.97		1	1.13	1	0.72
2	6.95	2	2.05		2 ·	0.70	2	0.55
3	4.42	. 3	1.87		3	0.44	3-4	0.25
4	3.55	4	1.10		4_	0:38	5	0.49
,				ĸ		0.00	5,	0.49
Jan	22	Feb	2		Feb	.10	Feb	22
Denth	[Chla]		[Chla]	•				-
		the second s				[Chla]	Depth	[Chla]
	0.85	1-3	0.56		1-3	0.62	1-3	0.69
3-4	0.38	4-5	0.38		4-5	0.33	4-5	0.24
			•					
Mar	14	Mar	27					
Depth	[Chla]	Depth	[Chla]					
1-3	1.38	1-3						
4-5	0.53	4-5	1.19		. · · · ·			•

Nakamun L	ake –	
-----------	-------	--

Nov <u>Depth</u> 1 2 3 4		Dec Depth 1 2 3 4	1 [Chla] 2.47 0.91 0.54 0.29	,	11 [Chla] 1.89 1.03 0.55 0.35	Dec Depth 1 2 3 4	29 [Chla] 1.27 0.56 0.33 0.22
Jan <u>Depth</u> 1-2 3-4 5-6 7	_	Jan Depth 1-3 4-5 6-7	22 [Chla] 0.57 0.22 0.30		2 [Chla] 1.07 0.24 0.31	Feb <u>Depth</u> 1-3 4-6 7	10 [Chla] 2.3 0.2 0.85

Feb	23	Mar	14	Mar	27
	[Chla]	Depth	[Chi]]	Depth	[Chla]
1-3	0.80	1-3	1.00		2.99
4-6	0.32	4-6	0.44		1.20

~

,

.

Sauer Lake

Nov <u>Depth</u> 1 2 3 4	20 [Chla] 3.10 3.43 2.75 2.11	Dec Depth 1 2 3 4	1 [Chla] 5.41 5.03 4.21 2.58	17 [Chla] 1.61 1.15 0.99 0.81	Jan Den ^a h 4-6 7-0 10-12	21 [C-la] 6.74 6.32 1.39 5.18
Feb Depth 1-3 4-6 7-9 10-12	6 [Chla] 0.53 0.37 2:09 6.73		16 [Chla] 0.71 1.19 4.36	2 [Chla] 3.27 3.33 6.51	Mar Depth 1 2 3 4	25 [Chla] 22.86 22.28 9.88 8.25

Wizard Lake

۰.

Nov Depth	26 [Chla]	-	15 [Chl-1		15	Jan	
Deptin	The second se	Depth	[Chla]		[Chla]	Depth	[Chla]
1	9.18	1	3.37	1-3	1.88	1-3	3.07
2	8.07	2	2.96	4-6	1.45	4-6	1.57
3	7.34	· 3.	2.82	7-9	1.08	7-9	1.27
. 4	6.35	4	2.65	10	2.26	10	1.95
			\				1
Feb	17	Mar	7	Mar	22		•
Depth		Depth	[Chla]	Depth	[Chla]	•	•
1-3	1.87	1-3	3.19	1-3	7.59		
4-6	1.14	4-6	1.55	4-6	2.94	· •	
7-9	0.97	7-9	1.12	7-9	1.64		

86

.

١,

		.*					,	·
Peanut	Lake	·		•				
	19 [Chla] 4.81 6.31 5.85	Dec Depth 1 2 3	8 [Chla] 3.50 3.52 3.34	Dec Depth 1 2 3	18 [Chla] 2.52 2.27	Jan Depth 1-3 4-6	17 [Chla] 3.67 1.85	
4 Feb	6.36	4 .	3.11	4	1.96 1.96	10-12 10-12	1.38	۲
	[Chla] 4.16 1.59 1.18 1.15	Feb Depth 1-3 4-6 7-9	10 [Chla] 4.77 1.29 1.23	Feb Depth 1-3 4-6 7-9 10-12	23 [Chla] 1.12 0.63 1.18	Mar Depth 1-3 4-6 7-9	14 [Chla] 1.46 1.59 2.79	
Mar <u>Depth</u> 1-3 4-6 7-9	27 [<u>Chla]</u> 3.14 8.29 7.10		a .	,				ŗ

•

<u>Twin Lake</u>

a

Dec 15 Depth [Chla]	Jan 15 - Depth [Chla]	Jan 31 Depth [Chla]
1 0.45 2 0.31 3 0.32 4 0.18	1-3 0.33 4-6 0.07 7-9 0.02 10-12 0.03	1-3 0.54 4-6 0.12 7-9 0.08 10-12 0.06
Feb 17 Depth [Chla] 1-3 1.10	Mar 9 Depth [Chla] 1-3 1.37	
4-6 0.27 7-9 0.22 10-12 0.06	4-6 0.68 7-9. 0.31 10-12/ 0.19	

87

٦

•

¢

Table 4: Mean loss on ignition (LOI) of sediment samples, and standard deviations (s) of the means, from 12. of the study lakes

	Lake .	LOI	- S			•
	Amisk N	39	3.1			
	Amisk S	4 1	3.6	i i		• .
	Baptiste S	29	2.5			
•	Halfmoon	.30	7.7	0		
•	Hasse	35	10.1			•
	Hubbles	38	8.3	5	-	
4	Lessard	_ 63	2.4			. •
	Nakamun	46	3.9			
	Peanut	30	9.1			
•	Sauero	28	.4.7	,		. •
•	Twin	30	1.6	•		
3	Wizard	30	7.3	•		

,

!

ð

88

Ģ

Table 5: Productivity estimates of Hubbles Lake for the _______ ice-free season of 1982. Depth of the euphotic zone (EZ), chlorophyll *a* concentration ([Chla]) and total phosphorus - (TP) (mg·m³)

		Date	EZ	<[Chla]	TP	
,		May 14	4	15.3	38	r .
		June 3 ′	5	2.8	16	
	×.	June 24	9	2.3	13	
	÷	July 15	8.5	3.5	19	
		Aug 26	8	3.4	16	

Ę

89

Ø.

: 11

V. Appendix B: Morphometric data for the study lakes

	<u> </u>	. Morphom	etri	<u>C</u>	charac	teristics o	of the s	tudy lake	<u>s</u>
Amisl	< No	orth	· · ·		, N	Amick Sou	.+ h	• .	
Surfa	ace	area=1,8 20,293,77	93,8 0 m ³	23	m ²	<u>Amisk</u> Sou Surface a Volume=44	rea=2,2		
Maxin	านท	depth=30 oth=10.7	m			Maximum d Mean dept	epth=60	m	
• • • •			· · ·			neun dept			
STRAI (m)		VOLUME '(m³)			STRATU (m)	M VOLUME (m³)	STRATUI (m)	M VOLUME (m³)	
0-1 1-2	1	,840,738 ,736,590			0-1	the second se	41-42	267,418	- ·
•2-3 3-4	1	,635,476 ,537,395			2-3	1,953,793 1,833,727	43-44	245,707	
4-,5 5-6	1	,442,347,337,055			4-5	1,717,468	45-46	205,043	
6-7 7-8	1	,222,893			6-7	1,588,929 1,542,004	46-47 47-48	168,881 152,247	
8-9 9-10	. 1	,009,854 910,976	•		8-9	1,495,782 1,450,264	48-49 49-50	136,475	an An an an An
0-11 1-12	•.	823,109 745,423			10-11	1,401,966	50-51 51-52	106,534	
2-13 3-14		671,589 601,605	. •		12-13	1,351,048 1,301,072	52-53 53-54	77,723	•
4-15 5-16		535,472 483,479			14-15	1,252,039 1,203,947 1,157,561	54-55 55-56	53,447	·
6-17 7-18		444,169 406,526			16-17	1,112,842 1,069,003	56-57 57-58	31,619 22,547	
9-19 9-20		370,549 336,240			18-19	1,026,047	58-59. 59-60	15,009 9,005	
)-21 1-22	•	285,001 221,143			20-21-22	983,970 945,492		· ·	
2-23. 3-24		165,380			22-23	910,465 876,100 842,397		[
-25		78,158 57,403			24-25 25-26	809,345		I	
5-27 7-28		50,359 43,776			26-27	773,783		•	
-29	2	37,655 31,994			28-29 29-30	698,925 662,923			
		5,,554			30-31 31-32	627,874 589,450			•
					32-33 33-34	548,021 508,102	•	ť	
					34-35	469,692 432,793	¢		
•					35-36	402,749 379,034			
			:	3	37-38 - 38-39	356,039 333,764		. •	
		· · ·			39-40 10-41	312,208 290,048 ·	•	54	

' ¥ `;

ŕ

Baptiste South		Hubbles	
Surface area=4,429,196 Volume= 55,856,240 m ³ Maximum depth=25 m Mean depth=12.6 m	ת ²	Surface area=395 Volume=3,997,871 Maximum depth=30 Mean depth=10.1	m³ m

STRATUM VOLUMI (m) (m ³)	E .	STRATUM (m)	VOLUME (m³)	
$\begin{array}{c} (m^{2}) \\ 0-1 \\ 4,302,7 \\ 1-2 \\ 4,054,67 \\ 2-3 \\ 3,813,99 \\ 3-4 \\ 3,580,67 \\ 4-5 \\ 3,354,72 \\ 5-6 \\ 3,180,73 \\ 6-7 \\ 3,055,46 \\ 7-8 \\ 2,932,71 \\ 8-9 \\ 2,812,47 \\ 9-10 \\ 2,694,75 \\ 10-11 \\ 2,580,46 \\ 11-12 \\ 2,469,54 \\ 12-13 \\ 2,361,05 \\ 13-14 \\ 2,255,00 \\ 14-15 \\ 2,151,39 \\ 15-16 \\ 1,979,00 \\ 16-17 \\ 1,745,93 \\ 17-18 \\ 1,527,47 \\ 18-19 \\ 1,323,61 \\ 19-20 \\ 1,134,34 \\ 20-21 \\ 913,51 \\ 21-22 \\ 675,35 \\ 22-23 \\ 473,16 \\ 23-24 \\ 306,93 \\ 24-25 \\ 176,68 \\ \end{array}$	74 95 79 88 3 4 2 6 8 3 1 6 7 6 2 5 2 0 9 9 4 1 1 0 9	$ \begin{array}{c} (m) \\ 0 - 1 \\ 1 - 2 \\ 2 - 3 \\ 3 - 4 \\ 4 - 5 \\ 5 - 6 \\ 6 - 7 \\ 7 - 8 \\ 8 - 9 \\ 9 - 10 \\ 10 - 11 \\ 11 - 12 \\ 12 - 13 \\ 13 - 14 \\ 14 - 15 \\ 15 - 16 \\ 16 - 17 \\ 17 - 18 \\ 18 - 19 \\ 19 - 20 \\ 20 - 21 \\ 21 - 22 \\ 22 - 23 \\ 23 - 24 \\ 24 - 25 \\ 25 - 26 \\ 26 - 27 \\ 27 - 28 \\ 28 - 29 \\ 29 - 30 \end{array} $	(m ³) 385,989 364,628 335,173 302,402 271,333 246,914 231,310 211,708 195,982 178,566 159,490 145,941 133,786 122,562 112,056 101,636 91,684 81,162 70,228 59,202 48,613 39,756 31,781. 24,311 18,833 13,451 8,958 5,718 2,914 1,757	Ģ
	ı .	29 30	1,757	•

Ð

;

Lake Eden

Wizard Lake

Surface area=161,460 m² Volume=1,122,598 m³ Maximum depth=15 m Mean depth=6.95 m Surface area=2,440,500 m² Volume=14,791,400 m³ Maximum depth=11 m Mean depth=6.2 m

	STRATUM (m)	(m³)				STRATUM (m)	VOLUME (m³)		`	۰.	
	0-1	153,076				0-1	2,334,25	50		\subset	
. '	1-2	138,547				1-2	2,144,25			~	
	2-3	124,490				2-3	1,999,40				
		111,938	•			3-4	1,829,30				
•	4-5	103,527				4-5	1,619,45	50 .		•	
	5-6	96,177				5-6	1,418,25		·		
	6-7	88,096				6-7	1,197,95				
	7-8	79,673				7-8	941,05				
	8-9	69,953			,	8-9	681,50				
	9-10	56,546				9-10	398,15				•
	10-11	42,786				10-11	227,85				
	11-12	30,314		·• .			22/,00				
	12-13	18,516				-					
	13-14	7,992									
	14-15	967	-								

.

Halfmoon Lake

<u>Hasse</u> Lake

Surface area=412,347 m² Volume=1,956,646 m³ Maximum depth=8 m Mean depth=4.8 m

Surface area=898,000 m² Volume=3,276,550 m³ Maximum depth=9 m Mean depth=3.6 m

S	TR	A	Τľ	JM	VO	LUME
---	----	---	----	----	----	------

STRATUM VOLUME

<u>(m)</u>	(m³)	(m)	(m ³)
0-1	381,465		00,500
1-2	337,753		27,000
2-3	311,386		01,950
3-4	276,113		09,150
4-5	228,022		18,350
5-6	175,877	-	38,950
6-7	127,158		79,150
7-8	82,935		-
	,500		26,750
		, 8-9	74,700

 ϕ

Lessard Lake

Surface area=3,207,083 m² Volume=12,492,882 m³ Maximum depth=6 m Mean depth=3.9 m Nakamun Lake Surface area=3,542,528 m² Volume=15,768;015 m² Maximum depth=8 m Mean depth=4.5 m

1 3

STRATUM VOLUME	•	STRATUM VOLUME	
(m) (m ³)		(m) (m ³)	
0-1 3,001,477	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0-1 3,309,864	
1-2 2,643,990		1-2 2,928,830	
2-3 2,376,802 3-4 2,038,836	3	2-3 2,628,576	
3-4 2,038,836 4-5 1,568,604		3-4 2,246,214	
5-6 863,173		4-5 1,776,34	
5 6 665,175		5-6 1,376,030 6-7 992,537	
	•	6-7 992,537 7-8 512 650	

b

<u>Peanut Lake</u>

1.

Sauer Lake

Surface area=226,885 m² Volume=1,247,507 m³ Maximum depth=14 m Mean depth=5.5 m

Surface area=84,688 m² Volume=351,850 m³ Maximum depth=14 m Mean depth=4.2 m

<u>(m)</u>	M VOLUME (m³)			STRATUM (m)	VOLUME (m³)		
0-1	215,874			0-1	76,804		
1-2	196,884		1.14	1-2	60,776		
2-3	181,091	1 .		2-3.	47,239	0	
3-4	162,859	1		3-4	40,547		
4-5	140,825			4-5	34,006	L.	
5-6	116,727			5-6	26,125		
6-7	82,820			6-7	20,728		
7-8	49,639		• •	7-8	15,245		
8-9	33,425			8-9	10,740		
9-10	24,801			9-10	7,527		
10-11	17,220			10-11	5,080		
11-12	11,821			11-12	3,401		
12-13	7,942			12-13	2,311		
13-14	4,246	•		13-14	1,321	. `	

<u>Twin</u> Lake

Surface area=235,823 m² Volume=3,691,504 m³ Maximum depth=35 m Mean depth=15.7 m

•		
STRATU (m)	JM VOLUME (m ³).	
0-1 1-2	229,288 216,464	
2-3	204,010	·
3-4 4-5	191,924 180,207	
5-6	170,438	
6-7	162,629	
7-8 8-9	154,960 147,476	
9-10	140,178	
10-11	134,309	
11-12 12-13	129,797 125,363	
13-14	121,005	
14-15	116,725	
15-16 16-17	112,178 107,383	
17-18	102,694	
18-19 19-20	98,108 93,628	0
20-21	89,243	
21-22	84,955	
22-23 23-24	80,771 76,694	
24-25	72,722	
25-26 26-27	67,224	, ,
27-28	60,637 53,896	
28-29	47,748	
29-30 30-31	42,040	
31-32	33,014 21,963	
32-33	13,164	
33-34 34-35	6,617 2,322	
J- JJ	2,322	

Ī
Figure 1: Bathymetric maps of the study lakes. The sampling sites on each lake are indicated by (=). For lakes where more than one site was sampled, the main site is indicated by (=1), site number two is indicated by (=2), etc. Only the south basin of Baptiste Lake is shown. Contour intervals are in m.

0

96























